Public Document Pack

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Tuesday, 5th October, 2021 at 1.30 pm
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 1.00 p.m.)
MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
C Anderson L Cunningham J Dowson J Gibson N Harrington C Hart-Brooke M Iqbal W Kidger G Latty A Marshall-Katung (Chair) E Taylor -

Adel and Wharfedale;
Armley;
Chapel Allerton;
Cross Gates and Whinmoor;
Wetherby;
Rothwell;
Hunslet and Riverside;
Morley South;
Guiseley and Rawdon;
Little London and
Woodhouse;
Chapel Allerton;

Co-opted Member (Non-voting)
Dr J Beal - Healthwatch Leeds
Please Note: Members of the public are now able to attend the meeting in person, but
please be mindful that Coronavirus is still circulating in Leeds. Therefore, even if you have
had the vaccine, if you have Coronavirus symptoms: a high temperature; a new,
continuous cough; or a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, you should NOT
attend the meeting and stay at home, and get a PCR test. For those who are attending the
meeting, please bring a face covering, unless you are exempt.
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the
‘View the Meeting Recording’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked
below) ahead of the meeting. The webcast will become available at the commencement of
the meeting.
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1090&MId=11621

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Angela Brogden
Tel: (0113) 37 88661
Produced on Recycled Paper

A

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward/Equal
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting).

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1. To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.
2. To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.
3. If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during
consideration of the following parts of the
agenda designated as containing exempt
information on the grounds that it is likely, in
view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:
No exempt items have been identified.

B

3

LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration.
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes.)

4

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor
Code of Conduct’.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES
To receive any apologies for absence and
notification of substitutes.

6

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS

7 - 22

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the
Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board
meeting held on 9th July 2021 and the Scrutiny
Board’s Call In meeting held on 9th July 2021.
To also note for information the note of the Adults,
Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board
consultative meeting held on 7th September 2021.
7

UPDATE ON THE ADULT INPATIENT STROKE
REHABILITATION WARD MOVE AND THE
DEVELOPMENT OF A VISION FOR STROKE
SERVICES IN LEEDS.
To receive a report from the Head of Democratic
Services which presents information relating to the
adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation ward move and
also the status and development of a vision for
stroke services in Leeds.

C

23 58

8

COMMUNITY NEUROLOGICAL
REHABILITATION SERVICES ENGAGEMENT
AND REDESIGN

59 126

To receive a report from the Head of Democratic
Services which presents information surrounding
the development of a new model of delivery for
community neurological rehabilitation services,
including the engagement process and findings
thus far, for the Board’s consideration and
comment.
9

LEEDS LONG COVID COMMUNITY SERVICES
PATHWAY - THE FIRST YEAR

127 148

To receive a report from the Head of Democratic
Services which presents information on the Leeds
Long Covid Community Service model, the
demand, activity and performance of the service
and detail of the health inequalities evident from
data analysis.
10

WORK SCHEDULE
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for
the 2021/22 municipal year.

11

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING
Tuesday, 16th November 2021 at 1:30pm (premeeting for all members of the Scrutiny Board at
1:00pm).

D

149 168

THIRD PARTY RECORDING
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of
those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice
a) Any published recording should be
accompanied by a statement of when and
where the recording was made, the context
of the discussion that took place, and a clear
identification of the main speakers and their
role or title.
b) Those making recordings must not edit the
recording in a way that could lead to
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by
attendees. In particular there should be no
internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at
any point but the material between those
points must be complete.
Webcasting
Please note – the publicly accessible parts of this
meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent
broadcast via the City Council’s website. At the start
of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or part of
the meeting is to be filmed.

E

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS,HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)
FRIDAY, 9TH JULY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor A Marshall-Katung in the Chair
Councillors C Anderson, L Cunningham, J
Gibson, N Harrington, C Hart-Brooke,
G Latty, J Lennox, E Nash and E Taylor

Co-opted Member present - Dr J Beal

1

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals.

2

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There were no exempt items.

3

Late Items
There were no late items.

4

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary or other interests.

5

Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Dowson, M Iqbal and
W Kidger. Councillors J Lennox and E Nash were in attendance as
substitutes.

6

Minutes - 16th March 2021
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 16th March 2021 be
approved as a correct record.

7

Board Member appointments and the Health Service Developments
Working Group arrangement.
The Scrutiny Board’s Principal Scrutiny Adviser introduced the report
submitted by the Head of Democratic Services. It was acknowledged that
during the Board’s consultative meeting on 15th June 2021, the views of Board
Members had been sought in relation to the appointment of co-opted
members; the Scrutiny Board’s representation on the West Yorkshire Joint
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
held on Tuesday 5th October 2021

Page 7

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and adopting the Health Service
Developments Working Group arrangement for the current municipal year
(2021/22). During that stage, it was noted that the views expressed by the
Scrutiny Board would inform the position for approval at the Board’s next
formal meeting.
The views expressed by the Board were reflected within the report submitted
by the Head of Democratic Services. The Principal Scrutiny Adviser therefore
sought the Board’s approval on the proposed position relating to each matter
and addressed these separately as follows:
 Non-voting co-opted members
With regard to the appointment of non-voting co-opted members, it was
proposed that the Board appoints Dr John Beal as a standing non-voting coopted member to represent Healthwatch Leeds.
With regard to the appointment of any other non-voting co-opted members, it
was proposed that the Board adopts an ad hoc approach in terms of
considering the appointment of co-opted members linked to a particular
scrutiny inquiry.
 Health Service Developments Working Group
Having already expressed its support for the Health Service Developments
Working Group arrangements to be continued, Members were asked to
formally agree that these arrangements, as set out in the draft terms of
reference document appended to the report, be established for this current
municipal year (2021/22).
 West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
In acknowledging that the Board’s previous representatives on the West
Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee had included the
Chair and Councillor Graham Latty, Members had previously expressed their
support for the same arrangement to continue. It was therefore proposed that
Councillor Marshall-Katung and Councillor Latty be appointed onto the West
Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to represent the
Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board.
RESOLVED –
(a) That Dr John Beal be formally appointed as a standing non-voting coopted member of the Scrutiny Board to represent Healthwatch Leeds.
(b) That the Board adopts an ad hoc approach in terms of considering the
appointment of any other co-opted members linked to a particular
scrutiny inquiry.
(c) That the Health Service Developments Working Group arrangement, in
accordance with the draft terms of reference set out within the agenda
report, be established for this current municipal year (2021/22).

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
held on Tuesday 5th October 2021

Page 8

(d) That Councillor Marshall-Katung and Councillor Graham Latty be
appointed onto the West Yorkshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee for this current municipal year (2021/22) to represent the
Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board.
8

Date and Time of Next Meeting
The Chair highlighted that a Call In meeting of the Adults, Health and Active
Lifestyles Scrutiny Board was being held immediately following this meeting,
with a starting time of 11.00 am.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
held on Tuesday 5th October 2021

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS,HEALTH & ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)
FRIDAY, 9TH JULY, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor A Marshall-Katung in the Chair
Councillors C Anderson, L Cunningham,
Gibson, N Harrington, C Hart-Brooke,
G Latty, J Lennox, E Nash and E Taylor

Co-opted Member present - Dr J Beal
9

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents
There were no appeals.

10

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
Appendix 7 to the Executive Board report entitled, ‘Adults and Health Service
Review 6: Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post Consultation Recommendations
Report’, provided as part of Item 7 on the agenda was designated as exempt
from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of
the Local Government Act 1972.

11

Late Items
There were no late items.

12

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary or other interests.

13

Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Dowson, M Iqbal and
W Kidger. Councillors J Lennox and E Nash were in attendance as
substitutes.

14

Call In Briefing Paper
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report advising the Scrutiny
Board on the procedural aspects of Calling In the decision.
Members were particularly advised that the Call In is specific to the relevant
report considered by the Executive Board, and issues outside of the decision,
including other related decisions, were not to be considered as part of the
Board’s decision regarding the outcome of the Call In.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
held on Tuesday 5th October 2021

Page 11

Members were also advised that the options available to the Scrutiny Board in
respect of this particular called in decision were as follows:
Option 1- Release the decision for implementation
Having reviewed this decision, the Scrutiny Board may decide to release it for
implementation. If the Scrutiny Board chooses this option, the decision will be
immediately released for implementation and the decision may not be called
in again.
Option 2 - Recommend that the decision be reconsidered
The Scrutiny Board may decide to recommend to the decision maker that the
decision be reconsidered. If the Scrutiny Board chooses this option a report
will be submitted to the decision maker.
In the case of an Executive Board decision, the report of the Scrutiny Board
will be prepared within three working days of the Scrutiny Board meeting and
submitted to the Executive Board. Any report of the Scrutiny Board will be
referred to the next Executive Board meeting for consideration.
In reconsidering the decision and associated Scrutiny Board report, the
Executive Board may vary the decision or confirm its original decision. In
either case, this will form the basis of the final decision and will not be subject
to any further call in.
Failure to agree one of the above options
If the Scrutiny Board, for any reason, does not agree one of the above
courses of action at this meeting, then Option 1 will be adopted by default, i.e.
the decision will be released for implementation with no further recourse to
call in.
RESOLVED – That the report outlining the call in procedures be noted.
15

Adults & Health Service Review 6 - Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post
Consultation Recommendations Report
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented
background papers to an Executive Board decision which had been called in
in accordance with the Council’s Constitution.
The decision had been called in for review by Councillors Caroline Anderson,
Amanda Carter, Simon Seary, Trish Smith and Dawn Seary.
The Scrutiny Board considered the following written information:
-

Copy of the completed Call In request form
Report of the Director of Adults and Health presented to Executive
Board at its meeting on 23rd June 2021

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
held on Tuesday 5th October 2021

Page 12

-

Extract from the draft minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on
23rd June 2021

The following were in attendance:
-

Councillor Fiona Venner, Executive Member for Adult and Children's
Social Care and Health Partnerships
Councillor Caroline Anderson
Councillor Amanda Carter
Cath Roff, Director of Adults and Health
Shona McFarlane, Deputy Director of Adults and Health
Sarah Buncall, Programme Manager, Service Transformation, Adults
and Health
Richard Des Forges, Legal Adviser to the Scrutiny Board

As the Nominated Lead Signatory to the Call In, Councillor Anderson
addressed the Board. Councillor Anderson acknowledged the financial
challenge faced by the Council, but perceived the decision to close Richmond
House and Home Lea House care homes to have placed budgetary concerns
above the personal impact on vulnerable older people who use the facilities
for both long-term and respite care. Councillor Anderson questioned the
meaningfulness of the consultation when the responses received to both the
consultation and three petitions clearly demonstrate the opposition to the
decision. Councillor Anderson also highlighted that occupancy rates of care
homes during the Covid-19 pandemic are not reflective of usual occupancy,
and therefore should not be used to inform decisions of this nature.
Councillor Amanda Carter, also signatory to the Call In, was also given an
opportunity to address the Board. Councillor Carter advised the Board of
several conversations with local residents with caring responsibilities who rely
on Richmond House and Home Lea House care homes for respite care, some
of whom had not been aware of the consultation, and the distress they have
experienced following the decision to close the homes.
Members were given the opportunity to ask questions / provide comment at
this stage. Discussions included:




Meeting the needs of service users. Members discussed the needs of
service users and acknowledged how the pandemic had particularly
influenced the way people with care and support needs are choosing to
receive care, with more opting for community-based care whilst
remaining in their own homes. Members particularly emphasised the
importance of choice. Linked to this, reference was made to the Leeds
Left Shift Blueprint model that aims to give families the autonomy to
decide on their own care and that this would also include more options
for long term health and social care needs than traditional care homes.
Viability of Richmond House and Home Lea House care homes.
Members discussed a range of factors surrounding the long-term
viability of the two homes, including occupancy levels both during and

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
held on Tuesday 5th October 2021

Page 13

prior to the Covid-19 pandemic; financial challenges; and the
availability of alternative provisions.

The Executive Member for Adult and Children's Social Care and Health
Partnerships addressed the Board to respond to the issues that had been
raised and in doing so had advised Members that the decision to close the
two homes was not taken lightly. Moving forward, Members were also
assured that transfer of residents will be carefully planned and carried out
professionally, sensitively, and safely, in accordance with the Council’s Care
Guarantee and in consultation with families. In addition, those who use the
homes for planned respite will be supported to ensure this provision can be
continued in a new location suitable to meet the individual’s needs. Members
were also advised that the programme will continue to work closely with all
affected staff and Trade Unions with a view to redeploying staff into other
council services, so that their good practice is retained.
Members were given the opportunity to ask questions / provide comment at
this stage. In doing so, Members sought assurance that families would be
engaged with, not only throughout the decision making for rehoming
residents, but also during and after residents move to a new home. Particular
reference was also made to the importance of friends and family visits during
the rehoming process. Members were advised that some Covid-19 restrictions
for visitation have been lifted, and that programme support workers and care
home staff will work with families through the transition process with
compassion, recognising the need for flexibility around visits for families.
In conclusion to the Board’s discussions, the Chair invited both the Executive
Member and the Nominated Lead Signatory to provide a final summing up
before moving to the decision of the Board.
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report, along with comments from
Members, be noted.
16

Outcome of Call In
The Scrutiny Board considered whether or not to release the decision for
implementation. A vote was subsequently held and the Scrutiny Board agreed
(by majority decision) that the decision be released.
RESOLVED – That the decision be released for implementation.

17

Date and Time of Next Meeting
The Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board is holding a remote
consultative meeting on Tuesday 27th July 2021 at 1.30 pm (pre-meeting for
all Board Members at 1.00 pm)

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
held on Tuesday 5th October 2021

Page 14

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES) CONSULTATIVE MEETING
TUESDAY, 7TH SEPTEMBER, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor A Marshall-Katung in the Chair
Councillors C Anderson, J Bentley,
L Cunningham, J Dowson, J Gibson,
N Harrington, M Iqbal, W Kidger, G Latty
and K Renshaw

Co-opted Member present - Dr John Beal
13

Declaration of Interests

14

There were no declarations of interests.
Meeting Note of 27th July 2021

15

RECOMMENDED – That the note of the meeting held on 27th July 2021 be
noted.
Update on the development of the local Integrated Care System
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report to provide an update on
the development of the local Integrated Care System.
The Chair reminded everyone that the Director of Adults and Health had
provided a report to the Board at its last meeting on 27th July 2021, which
summarised the main points of the new Health and Care Bill 2021-22 in
context for health and social care in West Yorkshire and Leeds, particularly
with regard to the development of the local Integrated Care System (ICS). In
considering the next steps and key milestones linked to the development of
the ICS, the Scrutiny Board had requested a further update for today’s
meeting.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr Salma Arif – Executive Member for Public Health and Active
Lifestyles
 Cllr David Jenkins – Deputy Executive Member
 Victoria Eaton – Director of Public Health
 Shona McFarlane – Deputy Director Social Work and Social Care
 John Tatton - Associate Director of Network Development, NHS Leeds
CCG
The update was provided in the form of a PowerPoint presentation during the
meeting and included the following information:
 Summary of main changes – the Board was reminded that the existing
CCG will cease to exist and be replaced by an Integrated Care System

Page 15










which will be made up of an Integrated Care Partnership, an Integrated
Care Board and Place Based Partnerships (PBP’s)
It was highlighted that the West Yorkshire ICS Partnership was also
holding a meeting on 7th September to consider a progress update
report. This report had been shared with Scrutiny Board Members too.
It was highlighted that the appointment of ICS Chair and Chief
Executive would take place during September/ early October.
Approximate timings were also shared in relation to the ongoing
development and consultation surrounding the ICS constitution.
A Leeds PBP Development Board is in place. Linked to this, it was
recognised that Leeds already works well as a place-based partnership
under the Health and Wellbeing Board. An effective Leeds PBP would
become accountable for funding normally allocated to CCGs (it was
reported that the existing budget of NHS Leeds CCG is £1.4bn), as
well as the delivery of statutory duties associated in line with the Health
and Wellbeing Strategy.
It is proposed that the Leeds PBP be a sub-committee of the ICB, with
full delegated powers and membership mirroring the ICB with
independent members and representatives of partners including NHS,
LCC, Public Health, voluntary, community and social enterprise sector
(VCSE) and ICB Officers.
The key next steps were set out as:
 Recruitment to the Leeds PBP Board and sub-Committees by end
of October
 Operating in Shadow Form from November onwards
 Final version, post consultation, fully operational by April 2022

Members discussions included:
 The importance of establishing strong and effective governance
arrangements based on transparency, independent challenge and
accountability;
 Acknowledging that national guidance continues to emerge
surrounding the development of ICS arrangements. It was
highlighted that a recent document, published on 2 nd September
2021 by NHS England and NHS Improvement and Local
Government Association (LGA), had provided guidance to support
all partner organisations in integrated care systems to collectively
define their place-based partnership working.
 The need for collaboration across the healthcare, public health and
social care system, as well as ensuring that the voice of patients
and the third sector is also captured. Linked to this, reference was
also made to the valuable role of Local Care Partnerships.
 An appropriate timeframe to receive a further progress update. It
was suggested that an update be provided in November/December.
RECOMMENDED –
(a) That the contents of the report and presentation, along with Members
comments, be noted.
(b) That a further update is provided to the Scrutiny Board in
November/December.

Page 16

16

Same Day Response Services in Leeds
The Head of Democratic Services submitted to the Board a report on Same
Day Response (SDR) services in Leeds.
On introducing the item, the Chair explained that when the Board was
considering priority areas of work for this forthcoming municipal year,
Members had expressed an interest to understand how the Covid-19
pandemic has impacted Same Day Response services, including the effects
of coming out of lockdown, and to consider the actions being taken to address
such impacts.
Appended to the report was a briefing paper produced by NHS Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group. This provided further information surrounding the
current situation of SDR services, including actions to address current
demand and also longer-term plans linked to the development of the Same
Day Response Strategy for Leeds.
In attendance for this item were:
 Cllr Salma Arif - Executive Member for Public Health and Active
Lifestyles
 Cllr David Jenkins - Deputy Executive Member
 Victoria Eaton - Director of Public Health
 Shona McFarlane - Deputy Director Social Work and Social Care
 Kirsty Turner - NHS Leeds CCG
 Gaynor Connor - Leeds GP Confederation
The Board were advised of the following points:
 The impact of the pandemic has seen a move to remote triage, an
increase in demand has caused an increase in visits to A & E with a
rise of 17% for major presentations and a rise of 10% in minor
presentations. There has also been an increase in 999 and 111 calls.
 While the figures show a significant decrease in face to face GP
appointments during 2020 due to the pandemic, more recent figures do
show an increasing number of face to face GP appointments as well as
a significant increase in GP appointments in general.
 With the increase in demand for SDR services, there is a focus on how
to build greater capacity in primary care and A & E services, such as
greater use of minor illness services to stream patients away from
emergency departments if not required and also greater use of
community pharmacy consultation services.
 It was highlighted that other short terms actions, as set out within the
briefing paper, are set within the context of the longer-term plan to
transform SDR services to deal effectively with future demands. Linked
to this, particular reference was made to the use of the 111 service in
providing advice and to make it easier for patients to choose and
access the right service.
 The longer term strategy also focuses on developing and diversifying
the workforce.

Page 17

Members discussions included:
 Pre-booking of GP appointments – To help alleviate demand for same
day response services, Board Members recognised the value of being
able to pre-book GP appointments and felt that GP surgeries should
now be facilitating this again for patients.
 Dentistry – The Board expressed concerns about the impact of the
pandemic on accessing dental care, particularly in paediatric dentistry.
The Board sought clarification of GP referral rates to the Leeds Dental
Hospital during the pandemic period and recognised the need to
strengthen the relationship between GPs and Dentists moving forward.
In recognition of previous issues raised by the Board in relation to
dentistry, the Chair suggested that this matter be addressed in greater
detail at a future Board meeting with colleagues from NHS England.
 Development of primary care workforce roles – The Board sought
clarification of GP vacancy figures, but also discussed the aspiration to
develop the primary care workforce in general which aims to cover
various roles across the service. Linked to this, it was suggested that
the Board schedules a focused discussion around primary care
workforce at a future meeting.
 Access to a named GP – It was noted that it was still in the contract for
Patients to have a named GP, however, it was acknowledged that it
was not always the case that patients saw their named GP.
 Communication – The Board recognised that communication was key
to patients being provided with service choice and being given access
to the right service. It was acknowledged that triage and roles within
primary care assisted in providing the right choice and right service for
patients.
 Social prescribing – The Board requested information on the number of
referrals for social prescribing across the city. The Board was advised
that the Social Prescribing Group would be able to provide more details
to future meetings. It was acknowledged that there was now more
opportunity to provide and enhance provision for social prescribing
across all practices within the city.
 Urgent Treatment Centres– While particular reference was made to the
location of an Urgent Treatment Centre in East Leeds, it was
acknowledged that the general work surrounding new Urgent
Treatment Centres had been put on hold during the pandemic but will
be starting up again.

17

RECOMMENDED – That the content of the report and the comments and
requests made by the Board be noted.
Restart and prioritisation plans for the delivery of the NHS Health
programme.
The report submitted by the Director of Public Health focused on the impact of
Covid-19 on NHS Health Check programme delivery throughout 2020/21 and
the steps being taken to plan for the restart and recovery of this programme.
In attendance for this item were:

Page 18









Cllr Salma Arif - Executive Member for Public Health and Active
Lifestyles
Cllr David Jenkins - Deputy Executive Member
Victoria Eaton - Director of Public Health
Shona McFarlane - Deputy Director Social Work and Social Care
Lucy Jackson - Chief Officer Public Health
Carl Mackie - Head of Public Health
Gaynor Connor - Leeds GP Confederation

Cllr Arif introduced the report explaining that the report provided an overview
and update of the NHS Health Check programme. The NHS Health Check is
one of the nationally mandated public health functions for Local Authorities
within the 2021 Health and Social Care Act.
The NHS Health Check is for people who are aged 40-74 who do not have
any pre-existing conditions such as heart disease, diabetes or stroke with the
aim of preventing conditions developing, through maintaining a healthy
lifestyle, by providing advice, offering support and or medication. The NHS
Health Check is currently delivered through GP’s with the current provider
being the GP’s Confederation.
Cllr Arif explained that the agenda report highlights how the pandemic has
significantly impacted on the delivery of this service with significantly lower
numbers being invited for the Health Check, meaning that fewer people are
identified with potential life-threatening conditions. It is therefore imperative
that this re-start of NHS Health Checks is activated as soon as possible to
mitigate any increase in cardiovascular conditions.
Cllr Arif informed the Board that the current providers contract had been
extended for a further two years to allow a focused continuation of the service
and prioritise the re-start and catch up of Health Checks.
For this item the Board were shown a presentation with the salient points
picked out as follows:
 Pre-pandemic figures had shown that Leeds had been doing well with
one of the highest uptakes across the core cities. Uptake was also
10% higher than the national average.
 The impact of the pandemic has seen numbers reduced with lower
number of invites being sent and fewer people receiving an NHS
Health Check in 2020/21 compared with 2019/20.
 The 4 elements to re-plan, which included:
o Engaging with each Primary Care Network (PCN)
o Offer extra clinics via extended access
o Recruit extra support through a sessional team
o Digital and tools to help promote and engage
 A graph was provided to show that the approach set out had already
seen improved take up of annual health checks for people with a
learning disability.
 Current projection was set out as:

Page 19



o Return to pre-pandemic level of activity during 2022/23
o Immediate focus on those most likely to benefit
o Target high risk individuals who missed an NHS Health Check in
last 12 months
It was also noted that there was a risk associated with the re-start due
to a global shortage of blood bottles. As such no non urgent blood
samples can be taken. Work is ongoing to assess how long the
shortage may go on for and look at solutions to move forward and
continue with the programme.

The Board’s discussion included the following:
 The impact of re-starting the programme if there remains a shortage of
blood bottles.
 The capacity of GP’s to do the Health Checks given that they are also
assisting with the Covid-19 vaccination programme, including booster
jabs.
 Partnership working to deliver extended access services.
 Co-ordination and publicising the programme in a timely way so that
resources are not stretched.
 The use of other accessible resources and community venues other
than GP surgeries for facilitating the Health Checks.
 Communication relating to the NHS Health Check to be inclusive to all
community groups.
The Board was reminded that the NHS Health Check programme is nationally
mandated and was advised that there is a national review being undertaken
that is considering patient eligibility for NHS Health Checks which will
therefore also need to be factored in locally.
The Chair reflected on particular references made during the Board’s
discussions in relation to older people having access to NHS health checks
and primary care services in general. Linked to this, reference was made to
Councillor Jenkin’s role as the Council’s Older Person Champion and the
importance of working closely to ensure that older people’s voices are being
captured to help influence the development and delivery of such important
services.
RECOMMENDED – That the content of the report and the comments made
by the Board be noted.

18

Work Schedule
The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented the work
schedule for the remainder of the municipal year. The Principal Scrutiny
Adviser introduced the report and explained that the work schedule would be
updated to reflect suggestions of work stemming from the Board’s discussion
during earlier agenda items.

Page 20

RECOMMENDED – That the work schedule be noted and updated to reflect
suggestions of work stemming from the Board’s discussion during earlier
agenda items.

The meeting concluded at 15:50

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Report author: Angela Brogden
Tel: 0113 3788661

Update on the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation ward
move and the development of a vision for stroke services
in Leeds.
Date: 5th October 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


In accordance with Part 4 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, a Health Service Development working group
meeting was held on 26th April 2021 to allow members of the Adults, Health and Active
Lifestyles Scrutiny Board to be informed of plans to relocate the adult inpatient stroke
rehabilitation service from Leeds General Infirmary (LGI) to Chapel Allerton Hospital (CAH).
Details of the engagement timetable and plans involving staff and patients was also
considered by the working group at that stage.



The plan to relocate the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation service from Leeds General
Infirmary to Chapel Allerton Hospital was broadly supported by the working group as Board
Members welcomed the development of an enhanced and more co-ordinated service in a
more appropriate setting.



At the request of the working group, a further update on progress against the engagement
plan was shared with members of the successor Scrutiny Board in early June. In
consideration of this, the Scrutiny Board agreed to utilise its planned meeting on 5th October
to be formally updated on the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation ward move, as well as to
consider the overall priorities and vision in relation to stroke services in Leeds.



Appended to this report is a briefing paper prepared jointly by NHS Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group; Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust; and Leeds Community
Healthcare NHS Trust which provides an update on the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation
ward move and also the status and development of a vision for Stroke services in Leeds.

Recommendations
Members are asked to consider and provide any comment on the information presented within this
report.
Page 23

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.

The Health and Social Care Act (2012) reinforced the duty of NHS Commissioners and
Service Providers to make arrangements to involve and consult patients and the public in
planning service provision; the development of proposals for changes; and decisions about
changes to the operation of services.

2.

In accordance with Part 4 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, the requirement to consult on service changes and/or
developments also includes a duty to consult local authorities (through the health overview
and scrutiny function) where any proposal is under consideration for:
➢ a substantial development of the health service; or,
➢ a substantial variation in the provision of such a service in the local authorities’ area

3.

To assist in this process, the Scrutiny Board had continued to adopt a Health Service
Development Working Group approach to offer an environment that allows early engagement
with the Scrutiny Board regarding proposed developments and/or changes to local health
services.

4.

Based on this approach, a working group meeting was held on 26th April 2021 to allow
members of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board to be informed of plans to
relocate the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation service from Leeds General Infirmary (LGI) to
Chapel Allerton Hospital (CAH). Details of the engagement timetable and plans involving
staff and patients was also considered by the working group at that stage.

5.

The plan to relocate the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation service from Leeds General
Infirmary to Chapel Allerton Hospital was broadly supported by the working group as Board
Members welcomed the development of an enhanced and more co-ordinated service in a
more appropriate setting.

6.

In recognition that family and friends also play an important role as part of a patient’s
rehabilitation journey, the working group requested that a further update on progress against
the engagement plan be shared with members of the successor Scrutiny Board in early June
to help determine any appropriate next steps.

7.

A further update paper was therefore circulated to Scrutiny Board Members in June to update
on progress against the engagement plan. In consideration of this, the Scrutiny Board
agreed to utilise its planned meeting on 5th October to be formally updated on the adult
inpatient stroke rehabilitation ward move, as well as to consider the overall priorities and
vision in relation to Stroke services in Leeds.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

8.

☐ Yes

☐No

Appended to this report for the Board’s consideration is a briefing paper prepared jointly by
NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group; Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust; and Leeds
Community Healthcare NHS Trust. This paper provides an update on the adult inpatient
stroke rehabilitation ward move and also the status and development of a vision for Stroke
services in Leeds.
Page 24

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
9.

With regard to the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation ward move, the briefing paper
appended to this report provides detail of the patient, public and staff engagement
undertaken, with specific reference to the findings arising from the engagement work
undertaken by Leeds Voices.

10. Representatives from NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group; Leeds Teaching Hospitals
NHS Trust; and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust will be attending today’s meeting to
present the appended briefing paper and address Members’ questions.
What are the resource implications?
11. The information provided in this report largely relates to external organisations, which may be
subject to other considerations relating to resource implications. Specific matters may need
to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is deemed appropriate.
What are the legal implications?
12. This report has no specific legal implications.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
13. The information provided in this report largely relates to external organisations, which may be
subject to other considerations relating to risk management. Specific matters may need to be
taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is deemed appropriate.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☐ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☐ Climate Emergency

14. The Leeds Health and Well-being strategy sets out the ambition that Leeds will be a healthy
and caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest improve their health the
fastest.
Appendices
15. Appendix A – Joint briefing paper from NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group; Leeds
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust; and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust which provides
an update on the adult inpatient stroke rehabilitation ward move and the status and
development of a vision for stroke services in Leeds
Background papers
16. None.

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Report to Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board: 5th October 2021
Title of
report:

Update on the Adult Inpatient Stroke Rehabilitation Ward move and the
status and development of a vision for Stroke services in Leeds

Authors:

Lindsay Springall, Head of Pathway Integration, Long-Term Conditions,
NHS Leeds CCG
Rob Newton, Associate director of policy and partnerships, Leeds
Teaching Hospitals
in collaboration with the presenters and stroke services members

Presenters:

Dr Bryan Power, Long Term Conditions Clinical Lead, NHS Leeds CCG
Alistair Bailey, Lead Clinician and Nurse for Stroke, Leeds Teaching
Hospitals
Steven Wilson, Clinical Director of Neurology, Leeds Teaching Hospitals
NHS Trust
Helen Knight, Clinical Head of Service for Neurology & Adult Speech and
Language Therapy, Leeds Community Healthcare

BACKGROUND
Colleagues from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) attended a Scrutiny Board
Working Group on 26 April 2021 to inform the Board of plans to relocate the inpatient stroke
rehabilitation service from Leeds General Infirmary (LGI) to Chapel Allerton Hospital (CAH).
A further update paper was sent to Scrutiny Board members in June to update on progress
against the engagement plan.
The NHS Long Term Plan (2019) identified Stroke as a national clinical priority, with an
ambition to improve stroke care along the whole of the pathway, including prevention, early
diagnosis and management from the onset of stroke, urgent and acute care, rehabilitation
and life after stroke. These improvements are being implemented across Leeds and the rest
of West Yorkshire and Harrogate and a city-wide vision for Stroke services in Leeds is being
developed.
Based on discussions at the 26th April meeting, Scrutiny Board members wished to receive
a further update on the stroke rehabilitation ward move, and be updated on the overall
priorities and vision in relation to Stroke services in Leeds. This paper is split into two
sections to provide these updates.

Page 27

A. INPATIENT STROKE REHABILITATION WARD MOVE FROM LEEDS TEACHING
HOSPITALS
1. Background
1.1. The following stoke services are currently provided at Leeds General Infirmary (LGI):
- Urgent/emergency treatment including thrombectomy or surgery
- Inpatient care for those not suitable for inpatient rehabilitation
- Inpatient rehabilitation (rehab), to facilitate discharge from hospital
1.2. Stroke rehabilitation is provided in a 27-bedded unit at the LGI. The services on this unit
are limited by the estate. There is not enough room to expand or to provide modern day
rehabilitation facilities. It is recognised by partners in the city that whilst the care
provided is good, an improved environment would facilitate much better outcomes for
patients and facilitate timely discharge.
1.3. During the height of the Covid-19 pandemic, the ward was repurposed as a COVID
ward in March 2020 and stroke rehabilitation patients were moved to non-specialist,
non-Covid wards across Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust and the Nuffield Trust
hospital. In addition, a time-limited opportunity arose to utilise capital funding as part of
the Trust’s response to Covid-19. This opportunity accelerated plans to improve the
provision of stroke rehabilitation, giving a unique opportunity to create a purpose-built
stroke rehabilitation unit with enhanced rehab facilities and access to outdoor space.
1.4. As a result, space was identified in a previously unused ward at Chapel Allerton
Hospital, maximising use of the hospital estate and enabling the co-location of
rehabilitation services.
1.5. The new unit at Chapel Allerton Hospital has 22 beds alongside an ‘independence living
assessment flat’ which will allow assessment and support with practicing independent
living, an important way of supporting patients to regain their confidence after stroke and
help them to relearn skills to promote independence for everyday living.
1.6. Chapel Allerton Hospital already provides specialist rehabilitation medicine including on
ward C1 which is a complex neuro rehabilitation ward. It is also the National
Demonstration Centre for Neuro-Rehabilitation. It is anticipated that this closer
alignment of stroke rehabilitation will bring benefits to quality of care, reduced length of
stay and improved patient outcomes.
1.7. Hyper acute stroke care and acute inpatient care will remain at Leeds General Infirmary.
2. Current Status
2.1. The target date for moving the service to Chapel Allerton Hospital was June 2021. The
building works are fully complete, but the movement of the service will now be
implemented at the end of September 2021. This delay is because implementation has
been dependent on successful appointment to a consultant post. This appointment has
now been made and the new consultant appointment will commence in post in
September, and work with the wider team to select the most appropriate patients to
move across to the new ward.
2.2. An update on how the ward move has progressed as planned will be provided at the
meeting on 5th October.

Page 28

3. Patient, Public and Staff Engagement
3.1. An equality impact assessment (EQIA) was undertaken to determine whether the plans
to relocate the service would have any detrimental impact on patients or carers from any
of the “Protected Characteristics” groups as identified by the Equality Act 2010. The
EQIA concluded the groups most likely to be affected by changes to stroke services
were Older people, Carers, Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) groups, most notably
Black, Asian and Eastern European populations and people living in deprived areas.
3.2. Online survey – An online survey was advertised to engage former stroke patients,
carers, relatives and the public. 16 responses were received. 8 respondents thought the
move is a good idea and 8 were undecided. Example reflections from patients are
included within Appendix 1.
3.3. Leeds Voices Focus Groups - a series of focus groups were co-ordinated by Leeds
Voices and took place during June 2021 and engaged with 116 people. The full
engagement report is included within Appendix 2 and some summary points raised
include:
•
•

•
•
•

•
•

•

People were happy with the proposed Chapel Allerton hospital environment
compared to Leeds General Infirmary both inside and outside and valued the green
surroundings.
The use of a video to give a visual representation of what the hospital was like
alleviates the ‘unknown’. Some suggestions were made to dub a voice over or create
subtitles. Lots of participants suggested this should be shown to all patients and
families before admission.
The provision of items to make people feel at home if they didn’t have family support
is really important.
The importance of staff who can help the patient emotionally was emphasised, and
the reassurance that staff will behave in a way that respects cultural diversity.
Carers and family members wanted to receive more information and education
around how to look after the patient once they had been discharged from the rehab
unit. It was also important for them to be offered mental health support and regular
updates on the state and progress of the patient; something that had not been
accessible in the LGI.
The national FAST campaign is unknown to many focus group participants. The
imagery could be more powerful and language more accessible (please see
appendix 3, for more details regarding the FAST campaign).
Information about the service should be widely available in different languages
(although we recognise that it is not possible to provide translation for all languages
some suggestions for the Stoke Association materials were: French, Arabic, Kurdish,
Tigrinya, Farsi, Swahili and Amharic).
Most participants said that a shop in the hospital would be important for them, even
with shops nearby.

3.4. Staff engagement - Staff within Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) have also
been fully engaged with on the ward move, with all staff sent letters explaining the
proposal, with the opportunity to meet with their Matron on a 1-1 basis to discuss any
personal concerns. A number of meetings were arranged to support staff, together with
HR and representatives from staff unions.
3.5. Next Steps - All of the feedback received to date will be reviewed alongside further
planned work with Carers Leeds, and the continued collation of patient experience as
the new ward becomes fully utilised. This will be collated by the LTHT Patient, Carer

Page 29

and Public Involvement (PCPI) team and all findings will be incorporated within a final
experience report, by the end of 2021, with an action plan aligning with wider stroke
service ambitions (as covered within the rest of this paper).

Page 30

B. STROKE SERVICES IN LEEDS
1. Providers
The following NHS services are provided in Leeds. In addition, some services for patients
after stroke are provided in collaboration with General Practice and charities including The
Stroke Association
1.1. Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT)
Leeds Teaching Hospitals specialise in the early diagnosis, treatment and rehabilitation of
people who have had a stroke. LTHT serves the Leeds metropolitan area providing initial
emergency stroke care. In addition, LTHT receives approximately 70% of the acute stroke
patients from the Harrogate catchment population following closure of the Harrogate Hyper
Acute Stroke Unit (HASU) facility in 2019. As a regional specialist neuroscience centre,
LTHT provides mechanical thrombectomy services and neurosurgical support to the West
Yorkshire and Harrogate population of approximately 2.8 million people.
LTHT provide a 24/7 Brain Attack Team (BAT) of stroke specialist nurse cover for
emergency admissions. In addition, there is also 24/7 specialist Stroke Consultant cover and
support. The team aims to meet patients on arrive at the Accident and Emergency
department in order to give patients the best possible outcome. The rapid assessment and
management/intervention by BAT is time critical in terms of outcomes for patients with stroke
and has significantly reduced the time from recognition of symptoms in the community to life
saving, and life altering, interventions such as thrombolysis (clot busting drug administration)
and mechanical thrombectomy (blood clot removal).
Leeds Teaching Hospitals also provides a Hyper Acute Stroke Unit (HASU) and an Acute
Stroke Unit (ASU) for assessment and early rehabilitation. Patients requiring longer-term
rehabilitation who are suitable are transferred to the Stroke Rehabilitation Unit, which is the
provision moved to Chapel Allerton Hospital from the Leeds General Infirmary.
1.2. Leeds Community Healthcare (LCH)
Leeds Community Healthcare provide a seven-day service, delivering early stage stroke
specialist rehabilitation in the community for up to twelve weeks. The team aims to maximise
rehabilitation potential and improve quality of life for people following a stroke and support
their carers. A multi-disciplinary team work with people who have had a stroke or
subarachnoid hemorrhage to achieve their rehabilitation goals in their home. Leeds
Community Healthcare also provide a Community Neurological Rehabilitation service, which
aims to provide rehabilitation in community settings (home, leisure, community facilities,
workplace, education facilities, etc). Some stroke patients from LTHT will enter this service if
they have longer term rehabilitation needs. This service is currently being redesigned (with
progress shared to Scrutiny).

Page 31

2. Activity
Approximately 1500 acute stroke patients are treated in Leeds per year with an average
length of stay outlined in Figure 1 below.

Figure 1: Average Length of Stay for Stroke patients in LTHT
(Jan 2020-July 2021)
25
20
15
10
5
0

Admission numbers by month are provided for LTHT, with onward referral activity to LCH for
community stroke care in Figure 2.

Page 32

Figure 2: Stroke patients admitted to hospital discharged to community stroke team
Apr May Jun Jul

2018/
2019

2019/
2020

2020/
2021

2021/
2022

*LTHT stroke
admissions
LCH stroke
referrals
% of LTHT
admissions
referred to
LCH
LTHT stroke
admissions
LCH stroke
referrals
% of LTHT
admissions
referred to
LCH
LTHT stroke
admissions
LCH stroke
referrals
% of LTHT
admissions
referred to
LCH
LTHT stroke
admissions
LCH stroke
referrals
% of LTHT
admissions
referred to
LCH

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
106 93

124

9

45

63

8%

48% 51%

112 119 128 117 112 117 132 130 121 132 127 123
59

70

55

60

41

51

62

69

56

63

72

75

53% 59% 43% 51% 37% 44% 47% 53% 46% 48% 57% 61%

117 122 100 128 106 124 139 144 129 112 111 162
48

40

51

57

51

52

58

59

46

49

47

87

41% 33% 51% 45% 48% 42% 42% 41% 36% 44% 42% 54%

121 141 145 134
60

52

78

62

50% 37% 54% 46%

*Please note LTHT stroke admission numbers include Harrogate/out of area patients, who
are not subsequently referred to and managed by LCH Community Stroke services.
Harrogate patients for example are managed by appropriate Harrogate community services.
3. Recent Service Developments
Leeds, as part of the West Yorkshire and Harrogate (WY&H) Integrated Care System, have
for many years prioritised stroke services, with a WY&H Stroke Clinical Network in place
which has now successfully transitioned into an Integrated Stroke Delivery Network (ISDN)
in line with the National Stroke Service Model (May 2021). As a city, we have already
undertaken significant stroke pathway improvement with a focus on continuous improvement
in stroke services and patient outcomes, with the delivery of the Hyper Acute Stroke Unit
(HASU) reconfiguration in 2018, across West Yorkshire and Harrogate providing one such
example.

Page 33

3.1. Atrial Fibrillation (AF) Medicines Optimisation Work (Stroke Prevention)
In 2019/2020, NHS Leeds CCG led a project funded by NHS England within the CCGs
medicines optimisation team to review all patients with a diagnosis of AF not on an anticoagulant in Leeds. Anti-coagulants are a medication prescribed to patients with AF, who
are at increased risk of having a stroke (five times greater risk, than non-AF patients). By
ensuring suitable people are on the correct medication it can reduce the risk of stroke by up
to 50%. As part of the project, 2,752 patients were reviewed, with 486 patients placed on an
anti-coagulant; therefore, reducing the conversion rate to stroke in future years. 1,194 were
found not to be suitable for other medical reasons, with healthy lifestyles advice and
education provided.
3.2. Transient Ischaemic Attack (TIA) Pathway Implementation
In early 2021 a new, clear, simplified pathway for clinicians in primary care to refer into for
rapid access advice and support for patients with suspected TIA was created. The pathway
went live to ensure review of patients within 24 hours by the Brain Attack Team via an email
referral into LTHT. The new referral pathway has been well received by primary care and
ensures prompt access to appropriate diagnostics for patients as required. Patients are
contacted directly by the Brain Attack Team with a management plan agreed.
3.3. Progress towards improved SSNAP performance
Every year, providers of stroke care are required to submit key performance data concerning
patient numbers treated and key indicators to the Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme
(SSNAP). Historically Leeds performance does not reflect standards of care locally because
of technical challenges in reporting. Significant work has been undertaken to enhance
reporting to improve our overall score. Improved performance is identified below in Figure 3.

Figure 3: Leeds SSNAP Performance
Apr-Jun 2019

Jul-Sep 2019

Oct-Dec 2019

X
.

X
.

X
.

Apr-Jun 2020

Jul-Sep 2020

Oct-Dec 2020

X
.

C
64.6

C
68.4

Jan-Mar 2020
D
57.9
Jan-Mar 2021
C
67.5

X = Data not submitted by Leeds due to reporting challenges
The best performance standard would attract an ‘A’ rating. Very few centres nationally achieve
this standard overall. It was recognised at the most recent Stroke GiRFT review (Getting it
Right First Time) that the data from Leeds was incomplete and, therefore, the overall rating
was not fully reliable but that LTHT achieves an ‘A’ or ‘B’ rating in some domains.
3.4. An increase in the number of 6-month patient reviews completed in the community
A key recommendation from the National Stroke Guidelines is that every stroke patient
should receive a patient led 6-month review. Nationally there is wide variation regarding if
and how this is delivered. Historically, Leeds CCG funded the 6 month review of stroke

Page 34

patients through the Stroke Association. This funding was discontinued in 2016/17 due to
reprioritisation of funding resulting in a gap in the service. In 2019/20 the Community Stroke
Rehabilitation Team utilised some available resource to develop and implement 6-month
reviews for patients that access the Community pathway. This enabled 43% of Leeds
patients who had had a stroke to be offered a 6-month review. The next phase for the city is
to identify how a 6-month review can be offered to all patients that have had a stroke and will
form a priority within our city vision for stroke services.
3.5. Improvements in the patient pathway from acute services to community; facilitated by
improved relationships between therapists in the acute and community setting
In 2017/18 it was recognised across the system that the criteria and limitations of the
Community Stroke Rehabilitation Team limited patient flow out of hospital. The tight criteria
and 6-week model resulted in patients being kept in an acute hospital bed longer to have
their rehabilitation needs met where, in fact, their needs could be met in the community if
they were able to access the service and had the right length of input. Therapists and team
managers across LTHT and LCH worked together to develop new accessible criteria to the
community service. Alongside this funding was made available to improve the pathway from
hospital to community, reduce length of stay in hospital, improve patient experience and for
rehabilitation to be provided in the right place at the right time to meet patient needs. Staff
from across the pathway worked together identifying where to allocate resource to have the
biggest impact on the system. The success of this work was a result of staff and
organisations coming together to share a joint vision of improving the patient journey for
stroke patients in Leeds. They utilised and embedded opportunities to work in a more
integrated way, improve relationships, learn from incidents together, create therapy rotations
across acute and community to improve knowledge and experience across the pathway.
3.6. Taking on the Harrogate pathway for thrombolysis.
Leeds has adopted the Hyper Acute Stroke pathway from Harrogate and District NHS
Foundation Trust after its service was closed in 2019. This enables faster access to
hyperacute stroke treatments 24/7, including rapid access to assessment for thrombolysis,
thrombectomy and admission to a Hyper Acute Stroke Unit. Approximately 30% of patients
resident in Harrogate go to York whilst 70% are admitted in Leeds. The average door to
needle time for thrombolysis in Harrogate prior to this move in July until September 2018
was approximately 110 minutes whereas Leeds’ door to needle time average for January
2021 to March 2021 was 43 minutes.
4. 2021/22 Priorities for Stroke Services in Leeds
In Leeds we contribute to the Integrated Stroke Delivery Network (ISDN) led via the West
Yorkshire and Harrogate Integrated Care System. The ISDN and delivery partners of Stroke
services in Leeds strive to bring together stroke services, and to deliver the best possible
care for the people of Leeds and WY&H, with the aim of reducing stroke mortality, disability
and the impact of strokes on families, carers and health and social care providers. The ISDN
is accountable for delivery of the National Stroke Service Delivery Model across West
Yorkshire and Harrogate ICS.
Other priorities this year (which all align with national stroke priorities), in the delivery of
stroke services in Leeds this year include:
4.1. Stroke Prevention
As outlined from the Stroke Rehabilitation Ward move engagement, more work needs to be
undertaken on the awareness and prevention of stroke. As outlined by the engagement, the

Page 35

national FAST campaign was unknown to many focus group participants, and we are
confident that this is the case for much of the general public. We will strive in Leeds to
publicise the FAST campaign and also highlight our services offered and routes into services
for advice and emergency information as required. At all times we will work to tailor materials
to different languages.
4.2. Managing stroke outliers within LTHT, with a review of all rehabilitation space
Due to the current prevalence of stroke and the existing capacity and demand restraints in
the Trust, some stroke patients are managed outside the dedicated stroke bed base on nonstroke wards. This is always after their acute and hyperacute phase as they are embarking
on the rehabilitation phase of their treatment and will occur whilst patients await a bed for
stroke rehabilitation. During the pandemic, with the associated ward changes in response to
changing Covid-19 inpatient demand, instances of stroke patients staying on non-stroke
wards has grown. It is important that all outliers are mapped, tracked and resolved. The
service is committed to improving overall bed utilisation and length of stay to ensure all
stroke patients are managed within a dedicated stroke facility for as much of their in-patient
stay as possible.
4.3. Improving thrombectomy access
A key priority of LTHT is to continue to improve access to thrombectomy. Approximately 80
patients have been treated in the last year with Mechanical Thrombectomy (MT) within the
region, on a Monday to Friday, 08:00 – 16:00 basis. We aim to continue to increase this
number in Leeds and regionally and are working towards a service delivery model that will
provide 24/7 cover.
4.4. 6-month reviews and further improvements in SSNAP performance
As identified in the improvements section, significant improvement has been made in being
able to offer 6-month reviews to all stroke patients in the community. The system aims to
further improve this over the next 6 months and make improvements on our overall SSNAP
performance and achieve a score of at least a ‘B’ rating.
4.5. Optimise CVD Prevent
Building on our prevention work to date in Leeds, in relation to AF optimisation, we will
further optimise CVD Prevention (both primary and secondary). NHS Leeds CCG will
support the roll-out of the national CVD Prevent programme, which is a national primary care
audit that automatically extracts routinely held GP data covering diagnosis and management
of six high risk conditions that cause stroke, heart attack and dementia: atrial fibrillation (AF),
high blood pressure, high cholesterol, diabetes, non-diabetic hyperglycaemia and chronic
kidney disease. The audit will provide an understanding how many patients with CVD and/or
the high-risk conditions are potentially undiagnosed, or under or over treated. The audit will
provide data to highlight gaps, identify inequalities, and opportunities for improvement.
Progress made in improving the diagnosis and treatment of those at risk of CVD, will be
monitored by the audit.
In addition, we must strengthen the education and guidance that is given to patients
following a TIA or stroke, to avoid further occurrences. This will be considered over the next
6 months and will form a key component of the longer-term strategy. As highlighted in the
engagement work from the stroke ward move, carers and family members have asked for
more information and education around how to look after patients once home, along with
wider mental health support.

Page 36

4.6. Covid recovery
The Stroke teams continue to recover and manage patient need within the constraints of the
continuing pandemic. Covid-19 is linked to changes in clotting, with services having seen an
increase in the incidence of stroke in patients following their Covid illness. An increase in
stroke numbers is also currently evident and may potentially be associated with behaviour
changes during lockdown, with the general public taking less exercise and following a less
healthy diet. In addition, reallocation of stroke rehabilitation beds to Covid care during the
height of the pandemic impacted staffing resource and treatment available to patients
needing stroke rehabilitation. This has caused a consequential rise in demand for community
services and some patients who received less therapy than we would have wanted, with
increased complexity, meaning that resources are spread more thinly within the community
team. Leeds Community Healthcare are working to ensure that patients with lower risk
presentation have alternative offers of support including referral directly to the Stroke
Association, including ‘After Stroke’ Education Groups for patients who benefit from support
with self-management. These areas of development align also with some of the
recommendations from the ward move engagement and shall be further explored and
developed as work on the vision for stroke services in Leeds is developed.
5. The development of a Leeds Vision for Stroke Services
NHS Leeds CCG, Leeds Teaching Hospitals and Leeds Community Healthcare have all
committed to developing a vision for stroke services for the next five years. The vision
document (a strategy) will set out our citywide ambitions formally in terms of our vision and
ambition, as this stocktake of activities for scrutiny has allowed us to reflect on the many
successes and progress we’ve made to date, however a firm plan and ambition is needed.
We intend the vision and ambitions to be consistent with the framework adopted for diabetes
services in Leeds: https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/publications/leeds-diabetes-strategy-20192024/, with clear accountability plans for achievement.
Development of the vision will commence in October 2021, via the formation of a ‘Stroke
Vision Task Group’ which will meet monthly. The vision/strategy will be a live document,
developed with patients, carers, staff and the public. We also recognise the importance of
aligning the vision with wider city work including developing rehabilitation strategies,
workforce competency frameworks and Discharge to Assess. It is also vital that the vision
forms a joint ambition with Leeds City Council as prevention and social care, equipment and
adaptation services are considered. There are all areas where we recognise improvement is
required and if Scrutiny Board members can help assist/support dialogue in these areas it
would be welcomed. Strategy development will also involve development with the Stroke
Association and other third sector organisations.
The Leeds strategy will align with the National Stroke Strategy and clinical service strategies
produced as part of the West Yorkshire and Harrogate ICS. We intend to publish a first draft
of the Stroke Vision by April 2022.
6. Conclusion
Scrutiny members are asked to note the changes proposed, progress made and plans for
strategy development included within this paper.

Page 37

Appendix 1: Patient Comments Received via LTHT Stroke Ward Move Survey
“There was a little family room but not many facilities for carers and obviously city centre
parking is not ideal when your relative is in for a long time. My dad was in for 7 months
before transfer to Chappell Allerton so very costly in parking."
"During intensive care stages the staff and care was incredible. After that, it was difficult to
discuss progress with staff and rehab wasn’t occurring in line with NICE guidelines - this was
a real stress factor caring for a relative who was young (62) and who we desperately wanted
to get rehab for. Increased rehab and communication for relatives would really help."
"Chapel A has better facilities and, due to capacity, increased access to rehab. Consistent
Rehab in the earlier stages of recovery is so vital and chapel a would be better equipped to
offer this. Also better facilities for stroke patients and easier parking for carers (they offered 2
passes for close relatives which helped with the cost as we were visiting daily)"
"Anyone who doesn’t have access to a car would have a more difficult journey but I think the
benefits of rehab and facilities far outweigh this"
"The staff at chapel a during my dad’s stay were incredible, supportive and accessible. I’ll
never forget each individual who played a part in supporting us and him during his stay. I
think the more people who can access these staff and the facilities they have there would be
invaluable. Ultimately we paid for treatment at Motion Rehab, access to better equipment on
the chapel a ward would really help to rehabilitate and prevent long term disability,
considering more state of the art equipment at an earlier stage in recovery I’m sure would
have resulted in a different outcome for My dad."

Page 38

Appendix 2: Leeds Voices Report

Report: Stroke Rehabilitation Engagement
Leeds Voices
Iona Lyons, Connor Craig-Jackson, Claire Graham and Helen Farrell
June 2021
Summary
In June 2021 Leeds Voices spoke to 116 people, in 8 focus groups from South Asian,
Black Caribbean, Black African and Eastern European communities about the move of
Stroke Rehabilitation Services from LGI to Chapel Allerton Hospital.
Overall, participants were positive about the changing the Stroke Services from LGI to
Chapel Allerton. The Hospital was seen as easier to get to, more welcoming, less
stretched and that it was a hospital with “a lot of potential”.
The communities we spoke to had reported negative experiences with staff where they
had experienced “prejudice”, with some staff being “aggressive” when faced with a
language barrier. More therefore needs to be done to make hospitals inclusive.
These communities also felt the main reasons they are less likely to use stroke rehab
services is mainly down to a lack of awareness or education about the services.
Therefore these communities need to be more targeted in any information that is sent
out about the services.
Barring some minor additions such as community languages/dubs and a more thorough
display of how the equipment works, participants were positive about the LTHT Stroke
Rehabilitation video when it was shown to them and that it was “really positive” when
they saw how the hospital looked.
The new Stroke Rehab Unit in Chapel Allerton overall is a service that different
communities would use and find more accessible than the LGI. However, from the
feedback gained, more can be done to help make this service inclusive and to spread
awareness of its existence.

Page 39

Recommendations
•

The FAST campaign was unknown to many focus group participants. The
imagery could be more powerful and language more accessible.

•

Information about the service should be widely available in different languages
(Although we recognise that it is not possible to provide translation for all
languages some suggestions for the Stoke Association materials were: French,
Arabic, Kurdish, Tigrinya, Farsi, Swahili and Amharic).

•

Most participants said that a shop in the hospital would be important for them,
even with shops nearby.

•

The use of a video to give a visual representation of what the hospital was like
alleviates the ‘unknown’. Some suggestions were made to dub a voice over or
create subtitles. Lots of participants suggested this should be shown to all
patients and families before admission.

•

People were happy with the hospital environment compared to LGI both inside
and outside and valued the green surroundings.

•

The provision of items to make people feel at home if they didn’t have family
support is really important.

•

The importance of staff who can help the patent emotionally was emphasised,
and the reassurance that staff will behave in a way that respects cultural
diversity.

•

Carers and family members wanted to receive more information and education
around how to look after the patient once they had been discharged from the
rehab unit. It was also important for them to be offered mental health support and
regular updates on the state and progress of the patient; something that had not
been accessible in the LGI

Page 40

1.

Background

In June 2021 Leeds Voices were tasked with carrying out a short engagement using
focus groups to speak to 55 people seeking their opinion about the relocation of all
stroke Rehabilitation Services from LGI to Chapel Allerton Hospital.

2.

Description of the Engagement & Method

The aim of the Leeds Voices Involvement work was to: ‘to support the relocation by
engaging with communities most likely to be affected by a stroke’
We were asked to seek the opinions of people from South Asian, Black Caribbean,
Black African and Eastern European communities and their carers because we know
that people from those communities are more likely to suffer from a stroke.
We wanted to know what barriers people might face getting to Chapel Allerton Hospital,
what they thought about the local area and amenities, what facilities they may need
inside the hospital and how the hospital can make their stay as welcoming and
comfortable as possible to the patients and visitors. The focus groups were asked a
series of questions based on the information above, and were shown a video of the new
unit.
We worked closely with the Stroke Association and used the FAST material to talk to
groups about recognising the signs of a stroke. This information will be shared with the
Stroke Association and is included here as it gives useful insight into public health
material for these communities.
Despite the disproportionate number of people from Black, South Asian and Eastern
European background who experience strokes, the Stroke Association users are
predominantly white British, we included this question with participants and have
recorded their feedback.

3.

Who was involved?

We ran 8 focus groups with a total number of 116 people from the following community
organisations.
Feel Good Factor
Shantona Womens Centre
AME Roma
Peaceful Mind

Circles of Life
Hamara Healthy Living Centre
Leeds Refugee Forum
The Stroke Association

Page 41

Seven of the focus groups we ran took place with groups that were already established
and met regularly. Most of the groups were formed as communities of interest by
ethnicity, geography or culture. The Stroke Association group was the only group that
met up due to their experience of stroke. It was also valuable to get the opinions of staff
at the Stroke Association focus group, which has been recorded in the findings.

Participant Communities Pie Chart

Participant Postcodes Heatmap

Page 42

A large number of attendees had lived experience of a stroke. This included two women
who were under 40 at the Roma group and one woman, from an African background
who had lost all 6 of her siblings and her mother to stroke and suffered 5 strokes
herself.
Main Findings
1. FAST Campaign Poster
Groups were shown a poster which was part of the FAST Campaign from the Stroke
Association. When asked about what they knew from the campaign and the poster
shown they had the following feedback:
Campaign distribution
While some participants who had strong English had seen the FAST campaign on
television, many of them hadn’t seen the poster, with participants from all communities
expressing that there was a lack of visibility for the campaign amongst their
communities.
“I know about FAST but haven’t seen that particular poster...we (the organisation) have
been supporting someone that had a stroke a year and a half ago, but throughout the
LGI stroke unit I have never seen this poster.”
“(the campaign) is not publicised enough in our communities (Black African & South
Asian)”
When speaking about how best to get this information out to all communities, it was
recommended that the Stroke Association should link up directly with organisations
such as the ones included in this report to run zoom sessions where they can distribute
information to communities.
“The approach (to sending guidance out) is a big problem...using flyers and emails etc.
doesn’t work with the majority of these communities because they don’t think these
methods of communication are for them due to language and cultural barriers. From
covid we’ve learned that zoom is a good way of letting communities use their voice. So I
think with more consultancy and more communication with these people, we will be able
to capture the right way.”

Page 43

It was also expressed that there needs to be a targeted campaign for participating
communities so that the information can reach those who have experienced a “lack of
education” or are new to the country and therefore aren’t engaged in the services.
Participants suggested that community radios would also be a good platform to get this
information out, due to it being in the communities’ own languages and a verbal method
of communication.
“To my mind it’s a problem of a lack of awareness, which I think needs to be addressed
with a specific campaign targeting black communities to make them more aware of
what’s available in terms of facilities and also the symptoms and danger of having a
stroke.”
Key points
-

The poster needs to be distributed to all hospitals and GPs across Leeds
The Stroke Association can link up with the organisations included in this report
to see how they can get information directly to their service users
There needs to be a targeted campaign to target Black British, Caribbean,
African, South Asian and Eastern European communities to better engage them
with the Stroke services

Changes to make to the poster
Multiple groups expressed that some of the language used in the poster was not clear
enough. The term ‘Facial Weakness’ seemed vague and unhelpful for spotting a stroke,
therefore it was suggested ‘Facial Drooping’ should be used as the main ‘F’ title, while
‘Facial Weakness’ should be moved to the smaller print.
"Instead of saying 'facial weakness' it could say 'facial drooping', because the symptom
isn't that the face becomes 'weak', but that there's actually a shift because the mouth
starts to droop."
"I would say 'facial droop' or 'facial drooping' is a better way to describe the effects of a
Stroke (than 'facial weakness')."
“I feel ‘droop’ or ‘drooping’ is better because it has more of a meaning already attached
to the word when compared to ‘weakness’.”

Page 44

Participants felt the poster was missing images of real-life people that demonstrated the
signs of a stroke and each aspect of ‘FAST’ such as facial defects, or checking for
numbness of arms etc. Using these pictures would be more “eye-catching” and make
people more likely to take notice of the information in the posters.
“I think especially with the BAME community they say ‘a picture paints thousand
words’… I would say that if you got the images correct then language is not a barrier, it
doesn’t really matter what terminology you use or what text is on there, it already tells
us a story, it gets people engaged and they will read through- whether it’s someone
from a BAME community and it takes them a few extra minutes to read through.”
“If you have actual pictures of people from different ethnic backgrounds it catches your
eye when you see a real person, the way the adverts (on TV) do it to capture an image
like that would probably be quite striking, you’d probably take more notice of it"
The colours used on the poster was also seen as not conveying a sense of urgency or
being eye-catching. This was an important aspect as it would stand out more with a
colour such as red that conveyed danger and would be more likely to be picked up and
read by communities.
“I think colour needs to be more eye catchy, the colour is a little bit dark, it needs to be
like an emergency so maybe a red colour.”
‘I agree that this F.A.S.T bit does not stand out, maybe it should be in another colour
from the rest of it, so that it sticks out? But really for me there is nothing that draws you
into the picture, it’s a bit dull.”
“It looks more like a sign that you have over your sink saying ‘Wash your hands’…you
glaze over it without giving it a second thought.”
Key points
-

-

Change the wording on the poster from ‘Facial Weakness’ to ‘Facial Drooping’
to make it more clear
Include pictures of people from diverse backgrounds displaying the stroke
symptoms as with the TV advert in order to make it more eye-catching
The colour should be altered from blue to something that communicates danger
such as red

Page 45

2. Getting to Chapel Allerton Hospital
Participants were positive about getting to Chapel Allerton Hospital when compared to
the LGI. Those who had experienced both said getting to Chapel Allerton Hospital was
easier as it is “much quieter with less traffic”.
In terms of parking, Chapel Allerton was also seen as more favourable than LGI.
Participants who had been to Chapel Allerton said that parking was “not an issue, as
“there is lots of parking literally on-site”. The parking was also described as “not as
compact as at LGI”, with “better wheelchair access”.
One issue however that was raised by a participant was the pricing and having to top up
the car parking charge due to the doctor running late. The participant had in the past
had to go and top up the money they had spent parking due to this but at the same time
this risked them missing their appointment if the doctor suddenly came to call them
whilst they were topping up their parking payment. It was suggested that this could be
resolved if the hospital could somehow use your registration number to see if your
appointment had been late and provide a discount to instead charge you what you
originally would have paid if the appointment had been on time. This would reduce
anxiety and be reassuring for patients during their appointment.
Some participants who were based in South Leeds did mention that getting to Chapel
Allerton Hospital “could be a bit of an issue” for their family members who don’t drive as
it would “probably be a bus into Leeds city centre and then out of it” rather than one bus
to the LGI, while getting a taxi “could be quite expensive” due to the further distance.
Key points
-

-

Most participants saw Chapel Allerton as easier to get to than LGI. Those who
had experience of the hospital said that there is less traffic and more spacious
parking as well as nearby on-street parking.
One participant suggested using patients’ car registration number to give them a
parking discount if their appointment is running late.
Chapel Allerton would be more difficult to get to for those living in South Leeds
that use public transport

Page 46

3. Chapel Allerton as an area
Participants were familiar with the area around Chapel Allerton hospital, with pictures
also shown during the groups to give them an idea of what was there.
There were positive views expressed about the area when comparing it with the LGI.
"I know that area, it's less busy (than LGI) and I think it would be good to help a patient
relax”.
The area around the LGI meanwhile was seen as “a concrete jungle” and therefore not
as relaxing for rehab patients.
The local shops such as Lidl and Tesco Express were also seen as much cheaper and
convenient in Chapel Allerton.
"You don’t have to spend a mortgage to get something to eat”.
Some participants however did feel that the walk to the shops may be difficult for those
recovering from a stroke, therefore they may not be able to use the local shops or their
family members may have to go and get items for them.
“It’s quite a busy road to get to the Tesco Express and if you’re a but unsteady on your
feet then that might be a factor (in stopping people from using the shops)”
Key points
-

Chapel Allerton overall is seen as a better area than the area around the LGI. It
is quieter, more relaxing and the shops are cheaper, so this is a positive change
There are some concerns however that patients will not be able to use the shops
or at least will find difficulty getting there due to the shops being on a busy road
with lots of crossings

4. LTHT Stroke Rehabilitation Video
Positive Aspects
During focus groups participants were shown a video released by Leeds Teaching
Hospitals to give patients an insight into the Rehabilitation unit at Chapel Allerton and
what to expect.

Page 47

Overall participants were positive about this video, finding it “very informative” about
how different aspects of the care will benefit patients and were reassured that “they do
look like they’re making improvements”.
“The video is very good very informative.”
“The good part about it too is that they actually extended it to home care, in that the
experience that the patient would have in the bays they are in with the various
equipment would familiarise themselves with this equipment, so that when they go
home they are familiar with it…the patient leaves the hospital familiar with what the new
home situation is going to be.”
The visual aspect was also seen as very beneficial for patients, with one participant
saying “It’s amazing, there still some language barriers but it’s good to have something
visual where you can see it and imagine what is there”.
Improvements/Adjustments
Some participants felt that the video could have been improved if viewers could “see the
use of the hoists” to paint a clearer picture of how they will operate.
Communities were also keen to have the video available in different community
languages, with the Roma Community in particular expressing that for them it would
need to be dubbed in Romanian as most of the community do not read.
More information could have been provided “about the length of stay and what the
rehabilitation process is” as there was one participant who was confused about this.
One participant also felt that the video should have included more details about
childhood strokes as they “can be quite common and often misdiagnosed as epilepsy,
which was the case for me, so there should be something in the video about childhood
strokes”.
Key Points
-

-

The overall format, look and content of the video was well received by
participants who were happy for it to be used as a way of informing patients
about life in the hospital
The video needs to be translated in different community languages, with Roma
Communities requiring a Romanian dub due to not being able to read

Page 48

-

The video could include a demonstration of how to use the hoists, a segment on
child stroke services and details about the length of stay or rehabilitation process

5. Feeling at home in the hospital
Overall Environment of Chapel Allerton Hospital compared to LGI
Those who had stayed at the LGI reported many negative experiences of it, with one
patient describing the ward they stayed in as a “dungeon”, situated on a lower floor with
the windows high up so they couldn’t see outside.
“As soon as I saw the door (to the room) I cried my eyes out.”
“That place was so depressing, and if you’ve had a stroke, you don’t want to be there.”
“I believe, well I know that there was a lot of prejudice going on. There was just abuse to
me all the time, especially at night. I did say to them ‘’Please I haven’t slept all night,
can I have another room please? They said ‘’ sorry you cant’’ But the at the end I
discharged myself, I said I don’t want to stay here any longer I’d rather stay at the hotel.
But in the end my memory was down, I was depressed and there was nobody there
who I could speak to.”
By contrast views about Chapel Allerton, especially compared to LGI were positive,
reflecting this change as a well-received one for stroke rehab patients.
“(my wife) was in Chapel Allerton for five months and the service she got there was of a
far higher standard than the LGI. At the LGI they were stretched with physios,
therapists, everything and she was getting physiotherapy maybe twice a week. At
Chapel Allerton it was every day, they make you feel so welcome.
“as an in-patient it’s got a lovely garden, it’s just a lovely place to be”
From the Leeds Teaching Hospitals Video that was shown during the group,
participants were very reassured that the ward would provide a nicer environment that
was “worlds apart” from their previous experiences.
“Looking at (the video) now the process that they have got is worlds apart, so thank God
that we’ve got somewhere like that.”
“It’s amazing....great to have something visual where you can see it and imagine what is
there.”

Page 49

One participant whose wife had used the hospital’s neuro rehab services was full of
praise for Chapel Allerton hospital comparing it very favourably to LGI. One factor that
particularly helped with recovery was that the return back home was more gradual, with
the patient returning on the weekend and then going back to the hospital during the
week. This was “a massive part of her recovery” as it was easier to adjust to life back
outside and meant that she could “see the light at the end of the tunnel” and would
therefore be a very important feature of the Stroke Rehab service in Chapel Allerton.
Some participants from multiple groups did point out that Chapel Allerton Hospital no
longer had a shop inside whereas LGI did, therefore this was a negative factor as it
meant patients couldn’t have a short walk down from their ward to pick up some items
and would have to rely on family members bringing it to them.
“When my mum was in LGI I was able to go and get her stuff from the shop...it’s good
practice as well for people when they’re preparing to go back to normal life.”
There was also a slight concern raised by some about whether the Stroke Rehabilitation
unit would cause Chapel Allerton to lose its standard of service, therefore eliminating
the positive experiences that people had reported about the hospital. It would therefore
be useful to acknowledge this risk in any communications sent out and provide some
reassurance that the hospital will have this under control or at least in mind.
Key Points
-

-

-

The inside of Chapel Allerton Hospital is also seen as a nicer environment than
LGI
Participants had positive views about Chapel Allerton Hospital describing it as
“welcoming” and “of a much higher standard” than the LGI, which was described
as being “stretched” and “depressing”, therefore this is seen as a positive change
The lack of an inside shop at Chapel Allerton was seen as a concern, with
suggestions that they could bring in people who had stalls as a quick substitute
for a shop
Some were concerned this new service could make the hospital more stretched,
therefore there needs to be some reassurance provided around this

Helping Family members/carers to be part of their loved ones’ recovery
Participants who had English as their second language felt much more comfortable
having a close family member/friend able to attend the hospital with them in order to
provide interpretation for them.

Page 50

“If it’s my husband or my cousin (interpreting), then I feel a lot more confident.”
Similarly, family members/carers wanted to be able to accompany the patient to the
hospital and interpret for them, so that they can make sure the doctors could
understand their family members’ condition.
“I want to interpret for my wife because I don’t want her condition being exploited by
someone else.”
In terms of how the change in hospital would affect family members/carers, all
participants who had experienced both the hospitals said that they felt the care received
at Chapel Allerton was “of a much higher standard” than the LGI and would be
reassured that their family member or friend would have stringer rehabilitation in Chapel
Allerton.
“As a carer (Chapel Allerton) kept me well informed with what was going on and
everything that I needed to expect when (my wife) came back out. It was a lot easier for
me to get to than the LGI and on a great bus route.”
The mental health of family members was also an important aspect for participants due
to the distress felt at having a family member having to recover from a stroke. One
community leader spoke about the struggles that members of the South Asian
community had faced when their family member had suffered a stroke.
“I have had so many calls because of distressed family members that have not been
able to go and see loved ones in hospital. I think it’s going take a long time to help them
and it’s sad to say that we have lost so many members. The question is now how are
we going to support these people who have had such distressing times and how can we
now support our community and safely say ‘right, we have got all this information, all
protocols are in place and you don’t need to be intimidated’.”
Education about what precautions to take in order to avoid a stroke is also important for
family members and carers, as it would they can continue to support the patient once
they are discharged from the rehab unit.
“When the patient returns home there will be a continuation of the patients care at
home, so family members need to be part of this process so they can then learn things
like what to eat and what not to eat in order to avoid triggering a stroke.”

Page 51

Key Points
- Chapel Allerton hospital was received more positively from carers/family
members who had experienced the hospital as they felt informed and involved in
the patient’s recovery.
- Those with language barriers would prefer to have their carer/family member
interpret for them in hospital as they are more comfortable and trusting towards
them than a hired interpreter.
- Education needs to be provided fromt eh hospital to family members/carers
about what measures to make in order to minimise the risk of future strokes for
the patient.
- If visits are restricted then there needs to be regular communication to the family
members from the hospital about the treatment their family member is receiving
and what the next steps will be.
- Mental health support should also be an option to family members/carers to help
them with the distress involved with having the patient in the rehab unit.
Resources that the hospital can provide
Participants were all asked what provisions people from their community would require
in the rehab unit to make them feel at home during their stay and ultimately recover
quicker. The overall results are compiled below along with quotes from participants who
suggested items:

CDs/I-Pods with different
cultural music
Prayer book
Prayer room
Chaplain
Confidence that personal
belongings will be safe
and not go missing
Culturally diverse food
e.g. zam zam
Exercise equipment

Space to put pictures up
Free TV and Internet
Access
Toothbrush
Night clothes
Joggers
Lockers
Makeup
Colouring Book
Puzzle books/word search
I-Pad/Kindle

Page 52

“Music has got to be a must and with technology now it is limitless. Easy to provide for
all backgrounds and promote familiarity as well as stimulation.”
“As a people we are very religious, so greater access to our religious beliefs (prayer
rooms, Bible, pastor) if we are going to have a long-term stay”
“(access to African food) made me feel like I am getting better and I am ready to go
home, something was happening in my mind like I am ok and I am getting better”
Experiences of culturally diverse communities in the hospital
-

Discrimination from staff

All communities had participants who reported negative experiences in the hospital that
were caused by a language barrier and not feeling like the hospital staff were being
understanding about this.
“Sometimes I feel straight away when (staff) treat me this way. When I don’t understand
something a staff member has said they then shout it at me and it feels aggressive
towards me.”
"I didn’t say thankyou for my cup of tea because I couldn’t speak the language – the
lady shouted at me that she’s like my mum’s age and I should be grateful – I was
shocked/nervous. I didn’t know what to do"
There was a suggestion from multiple groups that staff could undergo culturally
sensitive training or have staff screening dedicated to addressing cultural barriers
experienced by communities. That way it would at least be reassuring for patients to
know that they were in an environment that is addressing these issues and trying to
create a more inclusive environment regardless of the attitudes of some staff.
“You can’t change people’s opinions overnight. But what you can do is say ‘look, keep
your opinions to yourself or take it outside, but in the hospital the patient is our customer
and the customer’s always right’.”
“They just need to think to themselves, if they were in hospital how would they like to be
treated?”

Page 53

Key points
-

-

-

When faced with language barriers staff often display a lack of sensitivity to this,
sometimes shouting, talking too fast and making the patient feel uncomfortable
and upset.
While racism is still an issue in hospitals, communities would find it reassuring to
know if staff had received culturally sensitive training as it would at least display
that the hospital are acknowledging and confronting it.
Interpreters in the hospital

Communities that faced language barriers were reluctant to use interpreters in the
hospital, partly due to having to pay for them, meaning “they tend to avoid them
because of the cost.”. However a larger factor was that communities were often
uncomfortable with explaining their symptoms to a stranger to interpret it on their behalf
due to the very private nature of it. Therefore it is much preferred to use a family
member who can speak English and interpret for them as there is more trust.
“It’s degrading (explaining health issues to a hired interpreter) so friends/family are
always preferred for interpreting.”
This is still a barrier however, as participants reported that staff at hospitals, including
Chapel Allerton initially didn’t allow them to interpret for one of their relatives as they
would “not interpret correctly”. This made a lot of participants confused as to why they
weren’t being allowed to interpret and it also made them feel uncomfortable having to let
their relatives rely on someone who they haven’t met before to listen to and interpret
their personal conditions to the doctor.
“I don’t understand why they don’t accept that their husband is telling you what (their
wife) is saying”
“I want to interpret for my wife because I don’t want her condition being exploited by
someone else”
An alternative suggestion to this from one of the groups was that patients could use an
interpreter from a community organisation, which would be a more trusted source than
an interpreter from the council or hospital.
“If (family interpreters) isn’t an option you can arrange for someone from a place like
Hamara to help with this.”

Page 54

One group also suggested that volunteer interpreters from local communities could also
help patients with rehabilitation as they would be able to be on hand to speak to them
regularly as part of a befriending service to comfort and reassure them during their stay
in the hospital if they are anxious. This is especially important as they recognised that
hospital staff are “stretched” and therefore nurses aren’t always on hand to help the
patients in the ward.
“There is a need for volunteers who speak the languages of the people who are in the
hospital as a befriending service, because if you have had a stroke you need lots of
stimulation, you need to have practice talking and thinking about things.”
“Countless times you’d go into the ward (to visit a family member) but often in the
opposite bed there would be somebody from the BAME Community and you’d end up
going over to them and saying ‘you’re gonna be fine, look (my relative) has been in X
weeks and look how far he’s got.’ and just encouraging them because you could see the
fear on their faces. Nurses don’t have time for that one-to-one.”
There was also a suggestion that hospitals could utilise the “third generation” medical
professionals from diverse backgrounds as they are generally multi-lingual, having been
brought up in the UK, therefore could provide trusted interpretation services.
“A lot of the third generation (from our background) are really into medical occupations,
so having doctors and nurses available would make it better because there’s more trust
there with a professional.”
Due to most interpreters in hospitals being women, this provided a large barrier for the
male participants in the group, who said that they feel uncomfortable having to explain a
very personal condition to a female who isn’t a medical professional.
“I find that 99.79% of interpreters are female, because male interpreters won’t be
accepted by females because of privacy…however If I had to explain a very personal
bodily condition to a female, I would feel embarrassed and she would also be
embarrassed, so I just think with interpreters in hospital than man should have man and
female should have female.”
This was also the same for female participants when talking about male interpreters,
with participants reporting that “we feel shame if we have to ask a man to interpret our
health issues in a hospital.”

Page 55

Key Points
-

-

People with language barriers would like to be allowed to have a family member
interpreting for them as it makes them feel more comfortable
If family members aren’t available then volunteers from local community groups
could be used and assigned to patients as a befriending service
Interpreters should be the same sex as the patient they are interpreting for due to
the personal nature of the information the patients are sharing

Why participating communities are less likely to use the stroke services

Throughout this engagement we have developed a positive working relationship with
The Stroke Association who take referrals from the team at Chapel Allerton. The Stroke
Association recognise that their membership does not reflect the diverse communities of
Leeds.
When asked about the disparity between White British and Black British, Black African,
South Asian, Eastern European communities of accessing community services,
participants mainly pinned the disparity down to differences in culture and in education.
Culturally, both Black African and South Asian participants said that there is a “duty of
care” amongst their communities for relatives who are ill. Therefore, rather than use the
hospitals and seek professional help, they would rather stay at home and be cared for
by family members in a familiar environment.
“What I think is that our community have a duty of care to our elders, and as we know
there are different generations living under one roof so if anybody had become ill there
are different generations that can look after that person and maybe that is another
reason why you won’t find as many seeking to go into a home or rehab or things like
that.”
As previously highlighted in the report, there is also a general lack of “awareness” and
“education” in participating communities around Stroke Rehabilitation. Information and
communications sent out about Rehab services therefore needs to be part of a
campaign that specifically targets people from backgrounds.

Page 56

Key Points
-

-

There is a general lack of awareness amongst culturally diverse communities
that Stroke Rehab services are available
Those from South Asian and Black communities usually choose to have rehab in
their home as it is a familiar environment with family members of multiple
generations who can look after them
There is a ‘cultural pressure’ for families to be seen to care for their loved ones at
home.
The Stroke Association has since presented to the Leeds Voices monthly drop-in
to promote their service and also supplied all community groups who attended
focus groups with translated booklets with information about Stoke and the
services they offer.

Page 57

Appendix 3: FAST (Face, Arms, Speech, Time)

The Act FAST campaign urges everyone to take immediate action on seeing any stroke
symptoms to save lives – the NHS is open.
Stroke is a medical emergency and anyone experiencing symptoms should seek urgent help.
Early treatment not only saves lives but results in a greater chance of a better recovery, as
well as a likely reduction in permanent disability from stroke.
Stroke is a time sensitive condition which means that any hesitancy and delay in getting
treatment kills brain cells and has sadly and unnecessarily proven to be fatal in the early phase
of the pandemic.
Think and act FAST
The signs of stroke are:
• Face – has their face fallen on one side? Can they smile?
• Arms – can they raise both their arms and keep them there?
• Speech – is their speech slurred?
• Time – time to call 999

Page 58

Agenda Item 8
Report author: Angela Brogden
Tel: 0113 3788661

Community Neurological Rehabilitation Services
engagement and redesign
Date: 5th October 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


In accordance with Part 4 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, a Health Service Development working group
meeting was held on 26th April 2021 to allow members of the Adults, Health and Active
Lifestyles Scrutiny Board to be informed of plans for patient, carer, staff and stakeholder
engagement surrounding the development of a new model of delivery for community
neurological rehabilitation services.



At the request of the working group, an update on progress against the engagement plan and
additional referral and activity data was shared with members of the successor Scrutiny
Board in early June. In consideration of this, the Scrutiny Board agreed to utilise its planned
meeting on 5th October to be formally updated on the engagement and findings thus far and
to also share its views on the themes identified to date that will help inform the final model of
delivery.



Appended to this report is a briefing paper prepared jointly by NHS Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust which provides an
update on the engagement and findings thus far, to allow an opportunity for feedback from
Board Members on themes identified to date.

Recommendations
The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider the identified themes and emerging priority areas that will
inform the developing model of delivery for Community Neurological Rehabilitation Services and
share its views prior to a final decision on the model being agreed mutually between Leeds
Community Healthcare NHS Trust and NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group.

Page 59

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.

The Health and Social Care Act (2012) reinforced the duty of NHS Commissioners and
Service Providers to make arrangements to involve and consult patients and the public in
planning service provision; the development of proposals for changes; and decisions about
changes to the operation of services.

2.

In accordance with Part 4 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, the requirement to consult on service changes and/or
developments also includes a duty to consult local authorities (through the health overview
and scrutiny function) where any proposal is under consideration for:
➢ a substantial development of the health service; or,
➢ a substantial variation in the provision of such a service in the local authorities’ area

3.

To assist in this process, the Scrutiny Board had continued to adopt a Health Service
Development Working Group approach to offer an environment that allows early engagement
with the Scrutiny Board regarding proposed developments and/or changes to local health
services.

4.

Based on this approach, a working group meeting was held on 26th April 2021 to allow
members of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board to be informed of plans
for patient, carer, staff and stakeholder engagement surrounding the development of a new
model of delivery for community neurological rehabilitation services.

5.

The working group requested that an update on progress against the engagement plan and
additional referral and activity data be shared with members of the successor Scrutiny Board
in early June to help determine any appropriate next steps.

6.

A further update paper was therefore circulated to Scrutiny Board Members in June and in
consideration of this, the Scrutiny Board agreed to utilise its planned meeting on 5th October
to be formally updated on the engagement and findings thus far and to also share its views
on the themes identified to date that will help inform the final model of delivery.

7.

The developing model is to be discussed and debated by Executive team of LCH in the
first two weeks of October, with a final decision on the model to be agreed mutually between
Leeds Community Healthcare and NHS Leeds CCG by the end of October.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

8.

☐ Yes

☐No

Appended to this report for the Board’s consideration is a briefing paper prepared jointly by
NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust.
This paper provides an update on the engagement and findings thus far, to allow an
opportunity for feedback from Board Members on themes identified to date.

Page 60

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
9.

The briefing paper appended to this report provides detail of the patient, public and staff
engagement undertaken.

10. Representatives from NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group and Leeds Community
Healthcare NHS Trust will be attending today’s meeting to present the appended briefing
paper and address Members’ questions.
What are the resource implications?
11. The information provided in this report largely relates to external organisations, which may be
subject to other considerations relating to resource implications. Specific matters may need
to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is deemed appropriate.
What are the legal implications?
12. This report has no specific legal implications.
What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
13. The information provided in this report largely relates to external organisations, which may be
subject to other considerations relating to risk management. Specific matters may need to be
taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is deemed appropriate.
Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☐ Inclusive Growth

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☐ Climate Emergency

14. The Leeds Health and Well-being strategy sets out the ambition that Leeds will be a healthy
and caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest improve their health the
fastest.
Appendices
15. Appendix A – Joint briefing paper from NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group and Leeds
Community Healthcare NHS Trust with an update on the Community Neurological
Rehabilitation services engagement and redesign.
Background papers
16. None.

Page 61

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

Report to Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board: 5th October 2021
Title of
report:

An update on the Community Neurological Rehabilitation services
engagement and redesign

Authors:

Gillian Meakin, Service Development Lead – Business, Change and
Development Service, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust
Helen Knight, Head of Service (Clinical) for Neurology & Adult Speech
and Language Therapy, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust
Kim Taylor, Head of Service (Operational), Community Neurology and
Adult Speech Therapy services, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust
Lindsay Springall, Head of Pathway Integration, Long-Term Conditions,
NHS Leeds CCG

Presenters:

Helen Knight, Head of Service (Clinical) for Neurology & Adult Speech
and Language Therapy, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust
Gillian Meakin, Service Development Lead – Business, Change and
Development Service, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust

BACKGROUND
Colleagues from the Leeds Community Healthcare attended a Scrutiny Board Working Group
on 26 April 2021 to inform the Board of its plans for patient, carer, staff and stakeholder
engagement as it develops a new model of delivery for community neurological rehabilitation
services.
A further update paper was sent to Scrutiny Board members in June to update on progress
against the engagement plan and provide referral and activity data as requested by Board
members.
Based on discussions had at the 26th April meeting, members wished to receive a further
update on the neuro rehabilitation engagement and redesign, later in the year, to provide an
update on the engagement and findings thus far, to allow an opportunity for feedback from
members on themes identified to date.

1

Page 63

AN UPDATE ON THE COMMUNITY NEUROLOGICAL REHABILITATION SERVICES
ENGAGEMENT AND REDESIGN

1. Update on staff engagement
1.1. Between March and June, staff engagement was undertaken on the current interim offer
(appendix 1) and what a future offer might include, looking at clinical evidence as well
as patient, carer and family feedback to draft proposed options for the new service
model. Staff engagement concluded:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Home First model is supported by staff
The service needs to be more responsive in general and also an urgent/rapid response
offer needs to be included in the new service model
There are patients that are not appropriately managed by the old and current interim
service model
The service needs to accept referrals that require specialist rehabilitation from only
one discipline
Inpatient demand is not fully understood however it is evident that there are patients
who require this setting to meet their rehabilitation needs
Self-management needs to be embedded within the service offer and support a robust
self-re-referral pathway
The service needs to provide rehabilitation over a defined period of time and patients
discharged in a timely manner which will support the flow of patients coming into the
service

1.2. To focus on some of the areas above, working groups were established to explore these
areas further to then support and inform demand and capacity work. The aim of all the
groups was to work up a pathway, including criteria, and begin to identify demand and
resource that would be required to meet this specific pathway. These working groups ran
throughout July and in August a detailed review of the outcomes of the working groups
was undertaken to ensure sufficient information was available to support the next steps.
In some instances, further work was identified which was completed through August and
September. These working groups included the following:
Response pathways
-

48 hour response pathway – exploring how the service can build on and expand the
successful Community Neurological Discharge Team
2-4 week response pathway – to identify criteria and cohorts of patients that require
this level of response and understand demand for this pathway. This would be a
timeframe within which the patients would access the service. The rehabilitation offer
and the resource required to deliver this will be worked up through the other pathway
work.
Clinical Pathways that fit outside the core standard offer:

-

Transition Pathway
Functional Neurological Disorder
Dietetics
Vocational Rehabilitation
Psychology
2

Page 64

2. Update on stakeholder engagement
2.1. Via focus groups and a survey monkey questionnaire, 162 stakeholders/staff from
across organisations, primary care and third sector were engaged with. However, it
must be noted that there will be duplication across the survey monkey and focus groups
as some staff will have contributed to both. With this in mind the breakdown of
engagement was:
•
•

117 completed survey monkeys
45 attended focus groups

2.2. There were some strong themes that came out from stakeholders about what they felt
was important for a community neurological service to offer. These include:
1) A service that has the ability to provide a rapid response to a referral when clinically
indicated (e.g. timeframe of 48 hours to 5 days)
2) A Service that has the ability to respond to a referral in a timeframe that appropriately
meets patients’ needs
3) A service that is able to provide the level of intensity that a patient requires to meet
their rehabilitation goals
4) A service that provides specialist rehabilitation in the patient’s own home
5) A service that provides coordinated Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) interventions
6) A service that has Speech and Language Therapy (SLT) embedded within the MDT
7) A service that accepts patients that require specialist rehabilitation from only one
discipline
8) A service that has clear easy referral process potentially utilising electronic methods
9) A service that provides clarity around criteria and offer
2.3. 50% of stakeholders indicated that provision of inpatient rehabilitation is a key element
of a community neurological rehabilitation service however there was minimal specific
free text comments around this element. Stakeholders also stated that provision of an
episode of care (rehabilitation delivered within a defined timeframe) model was less
important than the key elements outlined above.
2.4. There were 2 key themes that came out specifically through the focus group sessions:
1) IT - how IT systems currently impact on services effectively communicating with each
other. Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust (LCH) staff highlighted that how the
IT system is set up currently creates duplication and if it was set up differently this
would improve how patients are effectively managed across LCH services.
2) How the service provides specialist support and advice to other services.
Suggestions included having a point of contact within the service, having open and
honest conversations around which service best meets the needs of the patient at
that time and potentially offering joint visits.

3. Update on patient and carer engagement
3.1. Since attendance at the April Scrutiny Working Group meeting, engagement activities
as outlined to members for Community Neurological Rehabilitation Services have been
progressed.
3.2. Our plan for engagement was agreed by CCGs Patient Advisory Group in June. Since
then, patients and carers have been engaged with via:
3

Page 65

•

•

A survey (appendix 2) which was distributed to patients within services and promoted
via LCH/Leeds CCG websites/communications and social media routes. To date, 29
surveys have been completed. An easy read version of the survey (appendix 2) was
also created for patients and carers.
Focus groups led by Leeds Voices. To date, 32 people have participated in focus
groups.

3.3. Survey and focus group questions were designed to allow/focus on the areas that patients
and carers can influence, focusing on the overnight stays for inpatient rehabilitation, staff,
location of service delivery, patient discharge from the service, patient self-management,
self-referral and spasticity services.
3.4. At the time of submitting this paper, survey responses have closed however there are still
some outstanding focus groups to be held in the latter half of September. Key themes to
date emerging from patient and carer engagement aligned to the question areas are
summarised below:

General feedback
•
•

Those that had accessed the service were complimentary and provided positive
feedback from their experience
Feedback specifically mentioned the kindness and patient centred approach

Waiting times
•

Due to the long waits patients are not referred to the service and some patients have
sourced private physiotherapy as a result

Inpatient overnight stays in hospital/care setting
•
•
•

For those requiring an inpatient stay, a community bed/setting/small hospital is most
favourable setting – patient anxiety increased if located within a secondary care setting
Inpatient rehabilitation stays could be reduced in length if appropriate intensity of
therapies is provided (historically there are periods of time that is not utilised when
patients are an inpatient)
Inpatient stays should incorporate equipment that patients need to use/adopt, with
demonstrations on how to use equipment

Staff Skills
•

Staff need to be able to identify and manage hidden disabilities

Location of services, if care unable to be delivered at home
•
•

For those requiring an inpatient stay, a community bed/setting/small hospital is most
favourable setting – the setting should be close to home where possible
Car parking and transport links must be considered carefully

4

Page 66

•

Location was not a priority for many people, more were concerned with the treatment
they received

Patient Discharge from the service
•
•
•
•

Rehabilitation never ends, patients should be able to self-re-refer into services if
needed
Patient and staff goals need to align
Carers and family need to be involved in the final review process, as people with these
conditions often have memory problems / articulation challenges
‘Final review’ appointment – feels too final and causes anxiety; this needs to be
considered

Managing your own condition
•
•
•

Peer support is highly important and needs to strengthen/be facilitated
Language barriers and translation require focus, along with cultural considerations
Support networks need to be promoted by professional staff to support access
alongside signposting to these

Self-referral
•
•

Digital routes for self-referral should not be provided in isolation
Need to have clear guidance as to how to re refer after an episode of care has been
completed

Carers
•
•

Provision of information and training to carers is a key aspect to support continuation
of rehabilitation
Staff need to consider the importance of the carer in the process of rehabilitation and
be skilled in supporting carers

In addition to the above themes, a strong reflection shared by patients and carers during the
engagement is that people either love or hate the new digital delivery modes expediated as
a result of the pandemic, i.e. online consultations. The new model needs to consider this.

4. Incorporation of the themes from the three areas of engagement into the developing
model
4.1. This redesign is being undertaken within existing financial resources, and therefore a
selection of options will be considered as the final service model is developed and agreed.
The final model is not yet known with options to be debated and agreed during October
via the Governance/Sign off approach outlined below. The very strong themes from this
engagement which will be included within the model, include:
•

The Home First offer is supported by staff and stakeholder groups and will remain a
key element of the new model
5

Page 67

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

From staff, stakeholders and patients/carers feedback - the length of inpatient
rehabilitation needs to be tailored to individual patient needs, with the home first
approach and a more responsive community offer a reduction of inpatient beds is likely
A route for self-referral into the service is essential for those known to the service
To deliver a more responsive service in order to provide rehabilitation in the right place
at the right time for the patient
To be able to deliver the appropriate intensity of rehabilitation at the right time to meet
patients goals effectively.
Clear outline and criteria of what the Community Neurological Rehabilitation Service
offers available to all stakeholders
Speech and Language Therapy is embedded in the service
To accept patients that require only one discipline to meet their specialist rehabilitation
needs

As noted above it has been identified that there are patients that require inpatient rehabilitation
and engagement has indicated that that this needs to be tailored to individual patients needs.
However, demand analysis has indicated that less beds will be required due to the home first
approach and a more responsive rehabilitation by the community offer. Further engagement
is not planned around this however the views regarding inpatient rehabilitation delivery will be
taken into account when discussing and agreeing the final model.

5. Sign-off of the model / governance
5.1. The patient and carer engagement formally closes on the 30th September. Engagement
reports will be written and finalised within the first two weeks of October.
5.2. The developing model is to be discussed and debated by Executive team of LCH in the
first two weeks of October, with a session also scheduled for the city’s Leeds Long Term
Conditions Board on the 12th October to consider the developing options and a very draft
version of the proposal.
5.3. Options will be debated and considered during October, with a final decision on the model
to be agreed mutually between Leeds Community Healthcare and NHS Leeds CCG by
the end of October. The organisations executive teams will be engaged in the process.
At this point a final Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) will be completed on the final
model.

6. Implementation
6.1. A phased implementation of the new model is expected from November 2021, with full
implementation of the model in early 2022.
6.2. A ‘You Said, We Did’ report will published at this point outlining the new service model,
and ongoing satisfaction from the service.

7. Conclusion
7.1. Scrutiny members are asked to note the significant engagement undertaken to date, and
to reflect on the themes and the emerging priority areas which we aim to incorporate
within the final model.
6

Page 68

Appendices
Appendix 1: Community Neurological Rehabilitation Service Offer Details

Service Offer Within Leeds (prior to COVID19)
• Immediate Occupational Therapy
intervention to facilitate earlier
discharges from hospitals (patients who
have sustained a Traumatic Brain Injury
or Neuro Oncology condition)
• Multi-disciplinary rehabilitation in a
community setting i.e. care homes,
leisure centre, community facilities –
work place, educational facilities or
healthcare settings
• Regional inpatient 5 bed unit, based at
St. Mary’s hospital, provision of
multidisciplinary rehabilitation through
planned short-stay admissions for those
with complex neuro conditions.
• Day-unit service for individuals who
require more intensive multidisciplinary
input than that provided in community
settings.
• Consultant-led clinics for assessment
and management of spasticity.
• Out of area referrals accepted (a small
number per annum).

Service Offer in Leeds (as of 1st September
2020) – Interim Offer
• Home First offer
• Implementation of new prioritisation
criteria
• Up to 6 sessions of each profession (as
required) over 3 months (extended in
cases of risk/safety issues in patient
episodes – on an individual basis)
• Inpatient unit at St. Mary’s not currently
open to admissions
• Priority patients / those waiting over a
year are being prioritised
• Pilot of new triaging role
• Spasticity and Review clinics restarted at
St. Mary’s Hospital – currently led by
medics and only linking with therapists
when an urgent/priority therapy need is
identified.
• All new patients have face-to-face
appointments
• For review and follow up appointments
alternatives to face to face are
considered (e.g. phone calls, video calls
or face-to-face if required)
• Therapy Clinic slots available at St.
Mary’s Hospital where therapists are able
to provide interventions that cannot be
provided at home e.g. where
environment that is not conducive to
rehabilitation, or if a patient requires
specific equipment. Clinic use is being
reviewed as part of service review.
• Out of area referrals redirected back to
the referrer to explore alternative local
services provided within the patients area
or advise referral to Leeds Teaching
Hospitals NHS Trust.

The Community Neurological Rehabilitation Service (CNRS) delivered by Leeds
Community Healthcare NHS Trust has historically the following elements of service
provision.
7

Page 69

-

-

-

Community Neurological Rehabilitation Team (CNRT) which aims to provide
rehabilitation in a community setting. This can include within the home, leisure
or community facilities, work place, educational facilities or healthcare
settings. Within this remit, the team offers rehabilitation in order to optimise
function, participation, quality of life and enhance independence.
Community Neurological Rehabilitation Centre (CNRC) which is a regional
inpatient unit that provides multidisciplinary rehabilitation through planned
long-stay admissions (2 week blocks of rehabilitation) for individuals with
complex needs due to a neurological condition who are medically stable.
Additionally, the inpatient unit also offers a day service for those who require a
more intensive input than what is available from the community facilities.
Community Neurological Discharge Team (CNDT) within CNRS. This team
has been running since January 2019 providing immediate occupational
therapy input on discharge from hospital for patients that have experienced a
traumatic brain injury. The team works alongside therapists and medics in
Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LTHT) supporting and facilitating earlier
discharge from hospital for this cohort of patients. They provide 8 weeks of
intervention once the patient leaves hospital supporting the individual to
reintegrate into society, return to work, provide rehabilitation and providing
advice and support as the patient transitions to home life.

8

Page 70

Appendix 2: Patient Engagement surveys
The following documents are appended as follows:
-

Appendix 2a - Patient Engagement Survey
Appendix 2b - Patient Engagement Survey – easy read version
Appendix 2c - Voluntary Action Leeds patient and carer poster
Appendix 2d - Voluntary Action Leeds – patient journey used within focus groups
Appendix 2e - Voluntary Action Leeds – questions used to support focus groups

9

Page 71

Appendix 2 A

Leeds

Leeds Community Healthcare

Clinical Commissioning Group

We want to involve you in
redesigning the Community
Neurological Rehabilitation
Service (CNRS)
Background Information
The Community Neurological Rehabilitation Service (CNRS)
is delivered by Leeds Community Health Trust. They provide
specialist rehabilitation support for adults in Leeds with
neurological conditions such as Multiple Sclerosis, Stroke,
Parkinson’s and people who have experienced a trauma
to their brain.
The teams described on the following page, bring together
the expertise and skills of different professionals to assess,
plan and manage care jointly.
Over the last few years there has been increasing demand
with long waits to access the service. We are reviewing
and exploring new ways of working to try and address
the challenges.

Page 72

1 of 17

NHS Trust

The Teams
Community Neurological Discharge Team provide
immediate Occupational Therapy which aims to improve
a patient’s ability to do everyday tasks to help with earlier
discharges from hospital.

Community Neurological Rehabilitation Team provide
rehabilitation in a community setting, this can include home,
leisure or community facilities, workplace, educational facilities
or a healthcare setting.

Community Neurological Rehabilitation Centre is the regional
inpatient unit, based at St Mary’s hospital which provides
rehabilitation through planned short stay admissions and
offers a day service for people who need more intensive input
than is available in the community.

We are interested in hearing from everyone, even, if you haven’t
used the service as your views can help shape this development.
If you would like to be kept informed about the survey feedback we
received please provide your contact details at the end of the survey.
Your personal data will be stored securely in line with data protection
rules and regulations.

This survey closes on
10 September 2021.
Please return this survey
using our Freepost address:

Helen Butters CNRS Survey
FREEPOST RTEG-JRZR-CLZG,
NHS Leeds CCG, Suites 2-5 Wira House,
Wira Business Park, West Park Ring
Road, Leeds, LS16 6EB
Page 73

2 of 17

1

I am filling in the survey as:
Patient who has attended the Community
Neuro Rehabilitation Service (CNRS)
Patient who has not attended the CNRS
A carer
A member of the public
Other:

2

Hospital Stay
If you required rehabilitation in an inpatient
setting what is important to you?
Most important
1
2
3
4

Own room:
Location:
Car parking:
Public transport links:
Outside space:
Smaller hospital:
Acute hospital:
Flexible visiting:
Relaxing comfortable
enviornment:
Other:

Page 74

3 of 17

5

Least important
6
7
8
9

3

Staff
Thinking about the service you have received or may
receive, what matters to you about the staff who care/
treat you?
Most important
1
2
3

Receiving my therapy/care
from the same therapist/nurse:
Receiving my therapy/care
from a range of different
staff with appropriate skills:
Good communication:
Being involved in your care:
Quality of care:
Being seen in non-working
hours:
Other:

Page 75

4 of 17

Least important
4
5
6

4

Location
If you were unable to receive your therapy at home,
what would be important to you from an alternative
venue?
Most important
1
2
3
4

Close to home:
Central location:
Car parking:
Good public
transport links:
Relaxing comfortable
environment:
Digital/virtual option:
Not in a medical or
clinical setting:
In a medical or
clinical setting:
Other:

Page 76

5 of 17

Least important
5
6
7
8

5

Discharge
Would you benefit from a final review once your
therapy has finished?
If yes what would good look like to you?
Most important Least important
1
2
3

Let the patient contact the
service when ready:
Digital or phone review:
Face to face review:
Other:

When would you want a review after your input from
the service:
2 weeks

6 weeks

3 months

Other:

If you wouldn’t benefit from a review following
discharge please explain why below:

Page 77

6 of 17

6

Current Day Service
Following a review, it has been identified that the
day service is not clinically meeting patient’s needs.
Thinking about if/when you may have used the
Day Service, what elements of the day service do
you really value?

7

Manging your own condition
What would help you self-manage your condition in
between therapies and treatment from the service?
Most important Least important
1
2
3
4
5

Written information:
Videos:
Digital option:
Advice line:
Groups:
Other:

Page 78

7 of 17

8

Self-referral
What would make it easy for you to return to the
service once discharged?
Most important Least important
1
2
3

Telephone request:
Emailing the service:
Filling in an electronic form:
Other:

9

Spasticity Service
Some patients with neurological conditions experience muscle
spasticity: interventions include injecting botulinum toxin into
the muscles as well as therapy support and guidance.

If you have used or may use the service, which of the
following are important to you?
Most important
1
2
3

Acute hospital setting:
Community hospital setting:
Closer to home:
Central location:
Seeing the same therapist:
Seeing different therapists
with appropriate skill sets:
Seen in non-working hours:
Other:
Page 79

8 of 17

4

Least important
5
6
7

Equality Monitoring
We deliver a wide range of services and we need to know who is
benefiting from our services and who might be missing out. We would
really appreciate you answering the questions below by ticking the boxes
that you feel most describes you. Some questions may feel personal, but
the information we collect will be kept confidential, secure and kept
separately from any personal information you might have provided
elsewhere.

Please tick here if you would prefer not to answer
any of the equality monitoring questions.

10

What is the first part of your
postcode (e.g. LS11, LS23 etc.)?
What is the second part of
your postcode?

11

What is your age?
Under 16

56-65

16-25

66-75

26-35

76-85

36-45

86+

46-55

Prefer not to say

Page 80

9 of 17

12

Are you disabled?
(The Equality Act 2010 defines disability as ‘a physical, sensory
or mental impairment which has, or had a substantial and
long-term adverse affect on a person’s ability to carry out
normal day to day activities’.)
Yes

No

Prefer not to answer

If yes, what type of disability? (tick all that apply)
Long-standing illness

Visual impairment (such as
blind or partially sighted)

Physical impairment

Prefer not to answer

Learning disability

Mental health condition

Hearing impairment (such
as deaf or hard of hearing)
Other:

13

What is your ethnic background?
Prefer not to answer

White
British (English/Welsh/
Scottish/Northern Irish)

Irish

Gypsy or Traveller

European

Any other white background (please state):

Page 81

10 of 17

Mixed or multiple ethnic groups
White and Black
Caribbean

White and Black African

White and Asian
Any other Mixed or Multiple ethnic (please state):

Asian or Asian British
Indian

Pakistani

Bangladeshi

Chinese

Any other Asian background (please state):

Black, African, Caribbean or Black British
African

Caribbean

Any other Black, African or Caribbean background (please state):

Other ethnic group
Arab
Any other ethnic group (please state):

Page 82

11 of 17

14

Pregnancy and maternity
(The Equality Act 2010 protects women who are pregnant or
have given birth within a 26 week period)
Yes

No

Are you pregnant at this time?
Have you recently given birth
(within a 26 week period)?
Are you a parent or carer of
a child or children under the
age of five years old?

15

What is your religion or belief?
Buddhism

Christianity

Hinduism

Islam

Judaism

Sikhism

No religion

Prefer not to say

Other:

Page 83

12 of 17

Prefer not
to say

16

What is your sexual orientation?
Bisexual (both sexes)

Gay man (same-sex)

Lesbian/gay woman
(same-sex)

Straight/heterosexual
(opposite sex)

Prefer not to say
Other:

17

What is your relationship status?
Civil partnership

Co-habiting (live with
partner)

Divorced

Married

Single

Widowed

Prefer not to say
Other:

Page 84

13 of 17

18

What is your employment status? (please tick all
that apply)
Student

Student – at college

Student – at university

Employed – full time

Employed - part time

Apprenticeship/training

Unemployed – looking
for work

Unemployed – unable
to work

Unemployed – not
looking for work

Retired
In receipt of state
benefits (e.g. Personal
Independence Payment
(PIP), Universal Credit (UC))

Prefer not to answer

Other:

19

Carers
(A carer is someone who provides unpaid support/care for a
family member, friend, etc. who needs help with their day to
day life; because they are disabled, have a long-term illness or
they are elderly.)
Yes

Are you a carer?
Do you have unpaid
responsibilities for children as a
parent/grandparent/guardian?

Page 85

14 of 17

No

Prefer not
to say

20

Would you describe yourself as homeless?
Yes

21

No

Prefer not to answer

What gender best describes you?
Woman (including trans
women)

Man (including trans man)

Non-binary

Prefer not to say

Other:

22

Are you transgender?
(Is your gender identity different to the gender you were given
at birth?)
Yes

No

Prefer not to answer

Page 86

15 of 17

Please share your contact details below if you would like to be
kept involved in the project, receive a copy of the engagement
report and to see what people have said.
Your details will be stored in our system securely for one year and will only
be used for the above purpose and any updates regarding this project.
Your personal information will be kept separate from the answers and your
response to the questions will be anonymous.

What are your contact details?
Please note that you do not have to fill in your personal
details to complete this survey.
Your name:
Address:

Email address:
Telephone:
GP practice:

Page 87

16 of 17

If you would like to find out more about any future
changes to your local health services please tick this box
to join our community network (Please note: if you tick
the box, we will be in contact with you shortly after the
engagement has closed).

How did you hear about this survey? (please select
one option):
Social media

CCG website

Voluntary sector
organisation

NHS trust

At an event (such as
a drop-in event)
Other:

You have completed this survey!
Thank you for taking the time to answer this survey.
At the end of the consultation, all the replies and comments will be
analysed and published in a report. This report will be used by NHS Leeds
Clinical Commissioning Group to make decisions about the Community
Neurology Rehabilitation Service in Leeds. Your views will also be used to
help understand the needs of local people and how any service changes in
the future could impact on Community Neuro Rehabilitation Service.

Page 88

17 of 17

Appendix 2 BB

The NHS in Leeds want to involve you in changing
the way the Community Neurological Rehabilitation
Service (CNRS) is run.
Page 89

Background Information
The Community Neurological
Rehabilitation Service is called
CNRS for short.
The service gives specialist support
for adults in Leeds with neurological
conditions like Multiple Sclerosis,
Stroke and Parkinson’s.

It also gives support to people who
have had a trauma to their brain.
Rehabilitation is helping people to
stay as independent as they can, so
they can carry on living their lives.

Over the last few years more and
more people have needed to use the
service.
People have had to wait a long time
for an appointment.

We are reviewing and looking at new
ways of working to try and address
these challenges.

Page 90

The teams
There are 3 different teams and they work together to assess, plan and
manage care.
They are:

Community Neurological
Discharge Team
Works with patients to provide
immediate Occupational Therapy.
This helps people with everyday
tasks so they can be discharged
from hospital earlier and go home.

Community Neurological
Rehabilitation Team
Provides rehabilitation in a
community setting.
This could be your home, workplace,
community group, healthcare setting
and so on.

Page 91

Community Neurological
Rehabilitation Centre
This is the regional inpatient unit at
St Mary’s hospital.
It provides rehabilitation for anyone
who might need more than can be
offered in the community.
It offers a day service or short stays.

We are interested in hearing from
everyone.
You don’t have to have used the
services before.
Your views can help us shape our
plans.

The survey closes on the
12th September 2021.
Please return the survey to
Helen Butters CNRS Survey
FREEPOST RTEG-JRZR-CLZG,
NHS Leeds CCG,
Suites 2-5 Wira House,
Wira Business Park,
West Park Ring
Road, Leeds, LS16 6EB
Page 92

Please can you tell us a bit about who you are by ticking one of the boxes
below:

•

I have attended the CNRS

•

I have not attended the CNRS

•

I am a family member or carer of someone that has
attended the CNRS

•

I am a member of the public

•

Other

Page 93

1. Overnight stay in a healthcare setting

What is important to you, if you have to stay overnight, in a health care
setting?
Please put the answers in order from 1 to 9 with the most important first.
For example if car parking is the most important to you put a 1 in that box
and so on.

• The location of the healthcare setting

• Having your own room

• Car parking

Page 94

• Being able to get there easily by public transport

• Outside space

• Location being in a smaller hospital

• Location being in a larger acute hospital

• Flexible visiting

• Relaxing and comfortable environment

• Other

Page 95

2. Staff

Thinking about the service you have received or may receive, what matters
most to you about the staff who care for and treat you?
Please put the answers in order, from 1 to 6 with the most important first.
For example if good communication is the most important to you put a 1 in
that box and so on.

• Getting my therapy or care from the same therapist or
nurse

• Getting my therapy or care from a range of different staff
with the right skills
Page 96

• Good communication

• Being seen in non-working hours, for example in the
evening

• Being involved in your care

• Quality of care

• Other

Page 97

3. Location

If you were unable to have your therapy at home, what would be important
to you from a different venue?
Please put the answers in order with the most important first.
For example if a relaxing and comfortable environment is the most
important to you put a 1 in that box and so on.

• A place close to where you live

• Central location

• Car parking
Page 98

• Being able to get there easily by public transport

• Relaxing and comfortable environment

• Digital or virtual option, for example having a video call

• Not in a medical/clinical setting

• In a medical/clinical setting

• Other

Page 99

4.

Discharge

Would you benefit from a final review once your therapy has finished?

• Yes

• No

If yes can you tell us what would be most important to you by putting the
answers in order.
For example if having a video or phone call is the most important to you put
a 1 in that box and so on.

• Let me contact the service when I am ready

• Having a video or phone call

• Having a face to face review

Page 100

Can you tell us when you would like the review?

• After 2 weeks

• After 6 weeks

• After 3 months.

Page 101

If you don’t want a review can you tell us why?

Page 102

5.

Current Day Service

Following a review of the service we have found out that it doesn’t meet a
patients clinical needs.
If you have used the service is there anything about it that you would like to
say?

Page 103

6.

Managing your own condition

What would help you self-manage your condition in between therapies and
input from the service.
Please put the answers in order with the most important first.
For example if an advice line is the most important to you put a 1 in that box
and so on.

• Written information

• Videos

• Digital option like
video call

• Groups

• Advice line

• Other

Page 104

7.

Self-referral

What would make it easy for you to return to the service once you have
been discharged.
Put the answers in order with the most important first.
For example if emailing the service is the most important to you put a 1 in
that box and so on.

• Phoning the service

• Emailing the service

• Filling in an electronic form for example over the internet

• Other

Page 105

8.

Spasticity Service

This is a service that helps with severe muscle spasticity.
The treatments include injecting botulinum toxin into the muscles.
They also offer therapy support and guidance.
Which of the following would be important to you? Put the answers in order
with the most important first.
For example if a central location is the most important to you put a 1 in that
box and so on.

• Acute hospital setting

• Being seen in non-working hours, for example in the evening

• Community hospital setting

• A place close to where you live

• Central location

Page 106

• Seeing the same therapist every time

• Seeing different therapists with the right skills

• Other

Page 107

If you would like to receive a copy
of the engagement report and see
what people have said please fill in
your contact details below.
Your details will be stored in our
system securely for one year.
We will only use them for this project
and to share anything we have
found out.
Your personal information will kept
separately from your answers.
This means anything you say will be
anonymous.
If you put any personal information
in your answers, we cannot keep
this anonymous.
You don’t have to give us your
contact details if you don’t want to.
Name:
Address:
Email:
Telephone:
GP Practice:
Page 108

Page 109

Page 110

Page 111

Appendix 2 C

Have your say on improving
Community Neurological Services
Do you or someone you care for have a
neurological condition which could include
Stroke, Parkinsons, MS or Brain Injury?

We want to hear your views on the
Community Neurological Rehabilitation Service
in Leeds

This will help to reshape the service in the
best way for you.

£10
Shopping Voucher
for focus group

We value your
contributions

£5
Shopping Voucher
for telephone
survey

Email Leedsvoices@val.org.uk or fill in this quick form to
take part in a survey or focus group this summer.

Page 112

A Patient Journey in The
Community Neurological
Rehabilitation Service pre COVID

Appendix 2 D

'this example of a patent
journey reflects a number of
different peoples lived
experiences of the service.
It does not show one
person's single journey'

Jozef is a 34 year old man who has experienced a Traumatic
Brain Injury as a result of a car accident. Jozef lives with his
wife and 2 daughters who are 10 and 8. He works full time as
a manager of a small team.

*This example is
different from what
happens during
Covid

Jozef is referred to the Community Neurological Rehabilitation
Service (CNRS) by the hospital as he is being discharged home. He
is physically mobile but is suffering with cognitive, memory and
behavioral issues

The referral is picked up by the Community Neurological Discharge Team (CNDT)
shortly before Jozef is discharged. One of the Occupational Therapists visits Jozef
in hospital for an initial assessment. As part of the assessment they introduce
themselves and they go with Jozef to the hospital coffee shop to observe how he
copes.

Jozef is discharged 3 days later. The Occupational Therapist who
saw him in hospital visits him at home the following day to start a
full initial assessment and establish his therapy goals and any risks
for him.

Page 113

Together they
make the
following
goals

Jozef’s goals are:
To be alone at home for a short period this includes
keeping himself safe and being able to make drinks and
snacks.
Helping bath children and put to bed,
To be able to take his children to school
To be able to look after children alone for approx. 2 hours
To be able to go to the local shop safely and manage to
buy a small list of items.
A longer term goal for him is to return to work – this will
require him to use public transport as he will be unable to
drive for at least 6 months.

The CNDT immediately starts to work with him – They are only able to
work on goals relating to Occupational Therapy as they only have
Occupational Therapists and Rehabilitation Assistants in the team.

Jozef has Occupational Therapy visits 3 times a week for the first
2 weeks and then weekly Occupational Therapy visits and twice
weekly Rehabilitation Assistant visits for the remaining 6 weeks.
They work on his immediate goal and also provide education
and advice for Jozef and his family (including the children) and
link Jozef’s wife in with Carer’s Leeds for support.

At the end of 8
weeks Jozef has
met the
following goals:

Page 114

To be alone at home for a short period this includes
keeping himself safe and being able to make drinks and
snacks.
Helping bath children and put to bed
To be able to take his children to school- this remains with
the help of his wife
To be able to look after children alone for approx. 2 hours
To be able to go to the local shop safely and manage to buy
a small list of items

Outstanding goals for Jozef
are:

Jozef is more aware of his
difficulties and he is more able to
express these however he
continues to struggle to accept
and accommodate these
difficulties.

To return to work – this will
require him to use public
transport as he will be unable to
drive for at least 6 months.

Continued support around
accepting and accommodating
his ongoing difficulties

He has not been able to
work on the return to work
goal it requires
psychological input to
assess his cognition in full
to understand his
cognitive abilities and any
adjustments that need to
be made and
psychologists are not part
of the CNDT.

After waiting 12 weeks Jozef is seen
by the Occupational Therapist but
they are limited with what they can
offer as a psychology assessment is
required first to assess Jozef’s
cognitive skills.

Jozef is referred onto the
Community Neurological
Rehabilitation Team
(CNRT) for longer term
community support. He is
put on the Psychology and
Occupational Therapy
individual waiting lists. He
is put on a priority due to
his need to return to work.

Page 115

The Psychologist is able to offer an appointment 4 weeks later. The
Psychologist and Occupational Therapist then work together to
support Jozef, his family and his work place to enable Jozef to
return to work using public transport. Jozef is finally back in work 9
months after his car accident.

3 months after this Jozef has a review appointment to
check how he is getting on. Jozef and his family report
that although there are occasionally bad days generally
work is going really well and they are so happy that he
has been able to get to this point considering how
serious his injuries were. He appears well- adjusted and
aware of his ongoing limitations and he is able to
communicate about these.
Thinking about the service you have received or may receive, what
matters to you about the staff who care/treat you?
• Receiving my therapy/care from the same therapist/nurse
• Receiving my therapy/care from different staff with appropriate
skills
• Good communication
• Being involved in your care
• Quality of care
• other

Jozef is discharged at this
point and told he can
come back to the service
for further support in the
future if needed.

If you were unable to receive your therapy at home, what would be
important to you from an alternative venue?
• Close to home
• Central location
• Car parking
• Good public transport links
• Home from home environment
• Digital/virtual option
• Not in a medical/clinical setting
• In a medical/clinical setting
4. Discharge
Would you benefit from a final review once your therapy has
finished?
If yes what would good look like to you?
• Let the patient contact the service when ready
• digital/phone review
• face to face review
• how long would you be happy to wait - 2, 6 weeks or 3 months

What would help you self-manage your condition in between
therapies?
• Written information
• Videos
• Digital option
• Advice line
• Other
7 Self-referral
What would make it easy for you to return to the service once
discharged?
• Telephone request
• Filling in a form
• Other
8. If you oversaw the service, which type of service would you
allocate NHS money to?
• A service where patients receive never-ending therapy services but
there are long waits for new patients to access the service
• A service which incorporates fixed therapy services together with
self-management which would mean shorter waiting times for
new patients

Page 116

Appendix 2 E

Focus Group Discussions

The Community Neurological
Rehabilitation Service Review

1

What does a good over night stay look like to you?

Flexible visiting
Location of the
hospital
Relaxing comfortable
environment

Car parking
Public transport
links
Your own room
Outside space

Anything else

A smaller hospital

Page 117

Acute hospital

2

Staff

Thinking about the service you have received or may
receive, what matters to you about the staff who
care/treat you?

Receiving my therapy/care
from the same
therapist/nurse
Receiving my therapy/care
from a range of different staff
with appropriate skills

Good communication

Being involved in your care

Quality of care

Receiving my therapy/
care in non-working hours

Anything else

Page 118

3

Location

If you were unable to receive your therapy at home,
what would be important to you from an alternative
venue?

Close to home
Central location

Car parking

Good public transport links

Relaxing comfortable
environment

In a medical/
clinical setting

Digital/virtual option
Not in a medical/
clinical setting

Anything else
Page 119

4

Discharge
Would you benefit from a final review once your
therapy has finished?

Yes

No
A final review happens
after you have input
from the service

What would a 'good' final
review look like?

Let the patient contact the
service when ready

OR
After 2 weeks
6 weeks
3 months

Digital/phone review
Review in non-working hours
Face to face review

Is there anything else that
would make your discharge
and final review better?
Page 120

5

Improvements to day service

Current Day Service
Following a review, it has been identified that the
day service is not clinically meeting patient’s needs.
Thinking about if/when you may have used the Day
Service, is there anything that you would still like to
see?

Page 121

6

Manging your own condition

What would help you self-manage your
condition in between therapies and input from
the service?
Written
Information

Videos

Digital option
This could
be
Groups
Anything else?

Advice line

Page 122

7

Self Referal

What would make it easy for you to return to
the service once discharged?
Telephone
request

Emailing the
service

Filling in an
electronic form

Any other way
you would like
to refer yourself
back to the service

Page 123

8

Spacisity Service

Which of the following are important to you?

The Spacisity Service is a city wide service
to address severe muscle spasticity;
interventions includes injecting botulinum
toxin into the muscles as well as therapy
support and guidance

Community
hospital

Acute hospital

Seeing the same
therapist/nurse

Seeing a range of different
staff with appropriate skills

Close to home

Central location

Receiving my therapy/
care in non-working hours
Page 124

Hospital

Community Neurological Rehabilitation Service
Separate waiting lists :

Community
Neurological
Rehabilitation
Team

Community
Neurological
Discharge Team

Only accepts referrals from hospital

support for patients with traumatic brain
injury to make

provide rehabilitation in a community setting

sure they have a smooth transfer from
hospital to home.

Team consists of

Team consists of

Psychologist
Nurses
Occupational Therapist
Dietetics
Rehab Doctor
Rehab assistant

Community Occupational
Therapist
Rehab Assistant

550 refersl a year

· Can influence

30 week waiting time

·

Hospital stays
Managing their own care in-between treatments
·
What a new service could look like

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Angela Brogden
Tel: 0113 3788661

Leeds Long Covid Community Services Pathway – The
First Year
Date: 5th October 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions


The Office for National Statistics (ONS) Long Covid Study estimates that 1.5% of the UK
population were experiencing self-reported “Long COVID” (symptoms persisting for more
than four weeks after the first suspected COVID-19 infection that were not explained by
something else) at 1 August, 2021. This equates to 12,807 people in Leeds. In addition,
another recent study from ONS (Updated estimates of the prevalence of post-acute
symptoms among people with coronavirus (COVID-19) in the UK: 26 April 2020 to 1 August
2021), released on the 16th September, estimates that 1 in 40 (2.5%) of people who had
tested positive for COVID-19 experienced any of the common Long Covid symptoms for at
least 12 weeks.



The Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board expressed an interest to understand
more about the symptoms and prevalence of Long Covid and also the level of support
available locally for those experiencing Long Covid.



A joint briefing paper has therefore been provided by Public Health, NHS Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust which provides an
oversight of the Leeds Long Covid Community Service model, the demand, activity and
performance of the service and detail of the health inequalities evident from data analysis.

Recommendations
Members are asked to consider and provide any comment on the information presented within this
report.

Page 127

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.

The Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board held a remote consultative meeting
on 15th June 2021 to consider priority areas of work for the forthcoming municipal year.
During this meeting, the Board expressed an interest to understand more about the
symptoms and prevalence of Long Covid and also the level of support available locally for
those experiencing Long Covid.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

2.

☐ Yes

☐No

Appended to this report for the Board’s consideration is a briefing paper prepared jointly by
Public Health, NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group and Leeds Community Healthcare
NHS Trust which provides an oversight of the Leeds Long Covid Community Service model,
the demand, activity and performance of the service and detail of the health inequalities
evident from data analysis.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
3.

Representatives from Public Health, NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group and Leeds
Community Healthcare NHS Trust will be attending today’s meeting to present the appended
briefing paper and address Members’ questions.

What are the resource implications?
4.

The information provided in this report largely relates to external organisations, which may be
subject to other considerations relating to resource implications. Specific matters may need
to be taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is deemed appropriate.

What are the legal implications?
5.

This report has no specific legal implications.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
6.

The information provided in this report largely relates to external organisations, which may be
subject to other considerations relating to risk management. Specific matters may need to be
taken into account if any additional scrutiny activity is deemed appropriate.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☐ Inclusive Growth
7.

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☐ Climate Emergency

The Leeds Health and Well-being strategy sets out the ambition that Leeds will be a healthy
and caring city for all ages, where people who are the poorest improve their health the
fastest.
Page 128

Appendices
8.

Appendix A – Joint briefing paper from Public Health, NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning
Group and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust which provides an oversight of the
Leeds Long Covid Community Service model, the demand, activity and performance of the
service and detail of the health inequalities evident from data analysis.

Background papers
9.

None.

Page 129

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
Report to Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny Board: 5th October 2021
Leeds Long Covid Community Services Pathway – The First Year

Title of
report:
Authors:

Jenny Davison and Rachel Tarrant Clinical Pathway Coordinators Leeds
Long Covid Community Services Pathway, Leeds Community Healthcare
NHS Trust
Carl Mackie Head of Public Health for Long Term Conditions – Leeds City
Council
Lisa Hollingworth Pathway Integration Leader – NHS Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group

Presenters:

Jenny Davison Clinical Pathway Coordinator Leeds Long Covid
Community Services Pathway, Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust
Carl Mackie Head of Public Health for Long Term Conditions – Leeds City
Council
Lisa Hollingworth Pathway Integration Leader – NHS Leeds Clinical
Commissioning Group

This paper provides an oversight of the Leeds Long Covid Community Service model, the demand, activity
and performance of the service and detail of the health inequalities evident from data analysis
1.

Background
1.1. Evidence
Evidence shows that a small but significant minority of people who contract Covid-19 continue to
experience the effects of the virus months after initially falling ill. This ongoing condition is known as
‘Long Covid’. The most common symptoms people report is fatigue, ongoing shortness of breath,
muscle pains, chest pains, palpitations, ‘brain fog’ and anxiety. A wide range of other symptoms
have also been reported. Typically, symptoms can fluctuate over weeks, so individuals can seem to
be getting better, then get worse again. Most people get better slowly but may need lots of time to
rest to recover.
The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) have recently published the following
case-definitions to define the effects of COVID-19 at different time points:
Acute COVID-19 infection
•

Signs and symptoms of COVID-19 for up to 4 weeks.

Ongoing symptomatic COVID-19
•

Signs and symptoms of COVID-19 from 4 weeks up to 12 weeks.

Post-COVID-19 syndrome
•

Signs and symptoms that develop during or following an infection consistent with COVID-19,
continue for more than 12 weeks and are not explained by an alternative diagnosis. It usually
1

Page 131

presents with clusters of symptoms, often overlapping, which can fluctuate and change over time
and can affect any system in the body.
Post-COVID-19 syndrome may be considered before 12 weeks while the possibility of an alternative
underlying disease is also being assessed.
1.2 Prevalence – how large an issue is this?
The Office for National Statistics (ONS) Long Covid Study estimates that 1.5% of the UK population
were experiencing self-reported “Long COVID” (symptoms persisting for more than four weeks after
the first suspected COVID-19 infection that were not explained by something else) at 1 August,
2021. This equates to 12,807 people in Leeds.
In addition, another recent study from ONS (Updated estimates of the prevalence of post-acute
symptoms among people with coronavirus (COVID-19) in the UK: 26 April 2020 to 1 August 2021),
released on the 16th September, estimates that 1 in 40 (2.5%) of people who had tested positive for
COVID-19 experienced any of the common Long Covid symptoms for at least 12 weeks.
It is acknowledged nationally that it is difficult to get an accurate account of the true prevalence and
therefore it is still not exactly clear how common Long Covid is.
1.3 Who is at greater risk of having Long Covid?
Long Covid is more commonly reported among people aged 35 to 69 years, females, people from
more deprived areas, those with pre-existing health conditions and among health and social care
workers. Some of this difference might be because some groups have had a higher chance of
getting an initial Covid infection. Also to note that many people reporting Long Covid had no preexisting health problems.
The Leeds Long Covid Community Services Pathway was developed following rapid collaboration
between NHS Leeds Clinical Commissioning Group, Leeds University, Leeds City Council and NHS
service providers within the Leeds system in response to the first wave of covid infections in the
early spring of 2020. The service became operational in September 2020. In order to facilitate
pathway development a system wide steering group was established to oversee the development of
the pathway.
2.

Service Model
2.1 Aim of the Service
The aim of the Leeds Long Covid Community Rehabilitation Service is to provide holistic
rehabilitation to adult patients in Leeds who are experiencing new and long-lasting symptoms of the
Covid 19 infection which are significantly impacting how people function in day-to-day life, to enable
them to return to living an independent life.
The service provides timely triage assessment and rehabilitation services to patients in the
community, either in their own home, at a specific community-based clinic, or virtually via digital
systems. The multi-disciplinary team consists of Physiotherapists, Occupational Therapists,
Dieticians, Rehabilitation Assistants and a Psychologist employed by Leeds Community Healthcare
NHS Trust. The team are further supported by consultants from the Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS
Trust with specialties in rehabilitation medicine, cardiology and respiratory medicine and a Clinical
Fellow.
The service developed pathway guidance for General Practice referral criteria and the investigations
to be considered for presenting symptoms prior to referral. This ensures that other potential
2

Page 132

pathologies are excluded prior to referral into a rehabilitation centred model of care, managing
patient safety.

2.2 Service Description
Referrals are accepted when a person has ongoing symptoms 12 weeks post COVID infection.
Following referral, people referred are requested to complete the COVID19 Yorkshire Rehabilitation
Scale outcome measure which is used as a Long COVID outcome measure and as a screening tool
to identify symptoms and needs at the first stage of the triage assessment with a clinical
coordinator. Local clinicians and researchers developed this novel scale for capturing long-term
symptoms known as the COVID 19 Yorkshire Rehabilitation Scale (C19YRS). It assesses symptom
severity, functional disability and overall health state. This was developed in partnership with
patients and is literature’s first patient reported outcome measure (PROM) for Long COVID. This
scale is now recommended by NHS England and the National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE).
Following clinical triage and taking into consideration the results of the measure, rehabilitation is
provided either within a home setting or a clinic setting. The service also offers digital assessment
and treatment for those people who can access this offer which has been supported by the Digital
Inclusion Team. Further medical screening and diagnostic tests may also take place at this stage.
After assessment and discussion at the multi-disciplinary team most people are offered educational
groups which are available digitally, ongoing physiotherapy and occupational therapy, referral to
psychological support and follow up and review. If ongoing complex needs are identified, further
individual treatment sessions are offered with progress evaluated.
At the point of discharge from the service, the person may be offered continued support outside of
the specialist team to support ongoing recovery. Examples are community Singing for Breathing
groups, Linking Leeds Social Prescribing Services, Leeds Active, Leeds City Council the Nuffield
Covid Rehabilitation exercise programme and local peer support groups. Ongoing medical oversight
is provided in General Practice.
2.3 Workforce
The workforce comprises a range of administrative, medical, nursing, research, management and
allied health professional roles. There is a virtual multi-disciplinary team (MDT) of medical
Consultants in Rehabilitation Medicine, Cardiology and Respiratory Medicine a Clinical Psychologist
is also a member of the MDT alongside two clinical pathway coordinators who are senior level
physiotherapists. There are currently 26.8 whole time equivalent staff and the costs of providing the
service is currently £1,164,217. Funding for 2021/22 is allocated from NHS England.
The team has faced enormous challenges in coordinating a pathway and team during the
pandemic. The team was recruited at a time when social distancing was the norm in the country and
subsequently training and interviews occurred virtually. The usual team introductions and working
as well as social interaction to maintain wellbeing was not possible in a face to face format. Despite
this, the team have risen to the challenge and continue to support each other virtually. Coming
together each week at an MDT as well as team briefings, helps to ensure any concerns whether
clinical or personal can be discussed and supported.

3

Page 133

3. Service Data and Performance (data point end of June 2021)
3.1 Activity
Table 1.

Number of referrals
988
Triage
15

Caseload
Number of discharges
Active on Caseload

Awaiting assessment

178

432
Waiting Times (weeks)
OT
Physio
11
20

408
Dietician
5

3.2 Demographics
Chart 1.

Chart 2.

Chart 2.
Covid Rehab Pathway Referrals by
Gender

Covid Rehab Pathway Referrals by
Age

800

300
250
200
150
100
50
0

600
400
200
0
Female

Under 20s
20

Male

30s

40s

50s

60s

70s

80+

Average age remains consistent from pathway inception – 49yrs. 65% of people presenting are female.
Findings still suggest that Long Covid is higher in those younger age groups compared to the over 60s.

4

Page 134

3.3 Presenting Symptoms
•
•

•
•
•
•

Multi- system condition likely thought due to a form of dysautonomia (a dysregulation of the
nervous system) triggered after contracting COVID-19.
Main symptoms – Fatigue, shortness of breath, cognitive problems (brain fog, memory problems, trouble concentrating and processing/ understanding information), anxiety, Post Traumatic
Stress Disorder, gut problems, voice/throat issues, PEM (post exertional malaise- extreme fatigue after emotional/physical/concentration or stress induced activities), pain – chest/head/muscles and joints.
Autonomic dysfunction ‘poor regulation’ leads to other symptoms such as - poor body temperature control / erratic heart rate and blood pressure control / erratic breathing / skin rashes and
dizziness.
Non hospital attenders suffering more with Long Haul symptoms (85% v 15%)
Post Viral Fatigue is the most common reason people not been able to return to work. Linked to
a “brain fog” presentation where patients are describing a fatigue related impaired brain function.
Relapses seem to be ‘cyclical’ and fluctuating symptoms from one day to the next making selfmanagement and recovery difficult. This is often due to PEM. Patients often refer to their symptoms and recovery as the ‘corona coaster’, because of this nature it’s difficult discharging patients from the service.

3.4 Clinical Outcomes
Measuring the severity and impact of Long Covid is established research practice within the service.
Standardised outcome measures are assessed at baseline and discharge, including the C19YRS,
EQ5D (Mental Health Wellbeing Measure), Modified Fatigue Impact Scale, MRC Breathlessness
Scale, 30 second sit-to-stand test.
Recent Evaluation of Clinical Outcomes:
•

86% report an improvement in health-related quality of life assessed through EQ5D (EuroQual
5-dimension instrument)

•

66% demonstrate improvement in the Medical Research Council breathlessness scale

•

82% report functional improvement through sit to stand test

•

85% have improved fatigue scores on the Modified Fatigue Impact Scale

3.5 The impact on employment and returning to work
57% of people at point of triage are a combination of not able to work, have lost jobs or working
modified hours. We excluded people who are furloughed and those people who have retired from
work. As a result, we plan to audit who the team have supported back into the workplace as this is a
major part of the Occupational Therapist input. NHSE estimated 15% of employed people at the
point of triage were not able to return to work. Following a site visit where the team shared local
evidence with representatives from NHSE, the Leeds team are now sharing data and outcomes in
relation to employment with the national Long Covid team.
4.

Research and Innovation
Leeds has been successful in securing a £3.4 million research project which has launched in the
city to identify the best way to treat and support the one million people in the UK now living with
Long‐COVID. Led by the University of Leeds and Leeds Community Healthcare NHS Trust funded
by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), the study aims to create a “gold standard”
approach for the treatment of Long COVID. Aims identify best practice in providing services,
5

Page 135

ensuring people are supported quickly and receive the right treatments from the right healthcare
professionals – in their own home, through their GP or at specialist long‐COVID clinics. It will
investigate how many people are unable to work due to long‐COVID and look at developing a
vocational rehabilitation programme to support them back into employment.

5.

Health Inequalities
A health inequalities task and finish group was established, consisting of Leeds Community
Healthcare, the Clinical Commissioning Group, Public Health, Leeds City Council and the Third
Sector to ensure service uptake is equitable according to need. A range of local and national data
and intelligence has been collected and analysed to determine if there is any inequity of access to
the service or unmet need in communities and to put in place any mitigation actions. It is important
to note that, due to how relatively little is known about Long COVID (including prevalence), and
limitations and caveats in available data, this is a complex piece to comprehensively produce a
clear picture of the situation. Findings from available data are outlined below:
The ONS Long Covid study has produced percentage prevalence estimates of Long COVID by both
index of multiple deprivation and ethnicity respectively. We have applied these point estimates to
Leeds population data and compared these with service uptake data.
Chart 3. IMD 1 = most deprived

Chart 3 shows that although proportionately a greater number of people who were referred to the
Long Covid service (blue bar) were from the most deprived areas IMD quintile 1, relative to the ONS
prevalence estimate (green bar), uptake from this group may be underrepresented when
considering potential unmet need. In contrast, percentage service uptake from people in the least
deprived IMD quintiles 4 and 5, respectively, maybe overrepresented relative to the ONS
prevalence estimate. These differences in each of these respective quintiles were statistically
significant.

6

Page 136

Chart 4.

Chart 4 shows proportionately that a greater number of people referred to the Long Covid service
were from a White ethnic background. Whilst those referred from Asian, Black, and Mixed
backgrounds, respectively, was significantly lower in comparison, relative to the ONS prevalence
estimates, any difference was not statistically significant suggesting uptake to the service may not
be underrepresented in these groups. Referrals to the service from those categorised as Arab (to
note, Arab also includes those from Chinese and other backgrounds) were lower relative to the
ONS prevalence estimate, which was statistically significant. It’s important to note that over 5% of
the Leeds GP Registered ethnicity population data used in this analysis was categorised as either
‘ethnicity not known/not stated’ or ‘blank’.
Caution needs to be applied in drawing any definitive conclusions from these data due to several
caveats and limitations. For example, the ONS Long Covid Prevalence Study estimates are based
on self-reported Long COVID and not clinically diagnosed. There is also some evidence nationally
through early analysis of GP clinical coding data that prevalence of Long COVID was higher in both
Asian and Black ethnic groups in comparison to the ONS estimates. However, use of this relatively
new GP code in primary care for clinical diagnosis of Long COVID is low and varies across the
country suggesting under-coding. Early analysis of local Long COVID clinical code data in Leeds
reinforces this.
In addition, local analysis of cumulative COVID-19 cases and positivity rates (from August 2020May 2021) shows statistically significant higher rates in those from an Asian background (Appendix
2) which may have yielded higher numbers experiencing Long COVID in people from this ethnic
group who might not be accessing support.

7

Page 137

Chart 5.

100
80
60
40
20
0

LS8
LS28
LS17
LS14
LS6
LS16
LS26
LS9
LS15
LS7
LS10
LS12
LS13
LS21
LS27
LS25
LS19
WF3
LS18
LS11
BD11
LS29
LS23
LS22
LS20
LS2
LS24
LS5
BD3
LS1
WF10
LS4
BD10
BD4
BD17
BD1
WF1
WF2
NE61
LS3
YO8
TR7
AL3
EX34
DL6

Axis Title

Covid Rehab Pathway Referrals by Postcode Area

Axis Title

Chart 5 shows the variation in referrals to the service across the City. Following increased
promotion of the service to previous low or nil referring practices we are now receiving referrals for
all postcodes. However, LS3 has referred one person. Postcode areas with highest referrals are
LS8, LS28 and LS17, LS14, LS16 (more than 50 per postcode area) evidencing 5 postcode areas
are referring >25% of the total caseload. Some of this variation may be based on actual prevalence
and some based on inequity of access. It is also important to highlight that not everyone
experiencing Long Covid symptoms will require referral to the specialist service and may be directed
to other sources of self-care support.
Long Covid is likely to amplify existing inequalities as disadvantaged groups are more likely to
experience the wider health, financial and social impacts of long Covid. It is important that the
needs and issues in relation to Long Covid within these groups is understood and that clinical and
other sources of support are accessed.
Mitigation actions to help reduce and/or prevent any inequity of access to the specialist service and
sources of support have focussed on communication to partners and engaging communities where
it is suspected uptake might be low and there is unmet need. This includes raising awareness of
signs and symptoms and the help available. This has included:
- A briefing note on Long COVID distributed to partners (including 3rd sector) to help raise
awareness in communities (Appendix 1.)
- Communication messages on Long COVID through LCC communication routes.
- A live ‘Want to Know More’ webinar was delivered in April by the specialist service which was
attended by a range of partners (including 3rd sector).
- Forum Central have promoted key messages on the website and through social media.
- Awareness raising and promotion by Better Together providers, targeting IMD 10% most
deprived areas.
- Translation of key messages from above briefing note in different languages.
- Promotion of the service to previous low or nil referring GP practices.
6.0

Developments in the assessment of children and young people with Long Covid
The prevalence of Long Covid in children is lower than in the Adult population (ref:
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanchi/article/PIIS2352-4642(21)00198-X/fulltext). However,
some children will still experience symptoms of Long Covid. Long Covid in children is not well
defined, and it may be difficult to distinguish between Long Covid and other conditions. However,
families have reported that Long Covid symptoms are having a significant impact on their children’s
day-to-day lives both physically and psychologically, and that some of the children had missed
school because of the symptoms (Ref: https://commins.org.uk/documents/Long-COVID-in-children8

Page 138

report-21_07_21.pdf). It is therefore important to ensure that a comprehensive service is available
to support those children who need it as soon as possible.
Leeds have established a Long Covid assessment clinic for 0-16-year olds, providing a multidisciplinary assessment including input from a paediatrician, psychologist, occupational therapist,
and a physiotherapist. This service accepts referrals from across West Yorkshire and Harrogate
Integrated Care System, via local community paediatricians. Following the successful bid to deliver
a treatment centre, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust is also mobilising a regional treatment
service for these children to access following assessment.
It has been agreed the adult Leeds Long Covid Community Service will accept referrals for those
over aged 16 years. Professional links have been established to ensure seamless transition
between services and to provide ongoing clinical advice and guidance.
7.0

Summary
The Leeds Community Services Long Covid Pathway began developing during the spring of 2020
shaped by the early evidence of need from people who six to twelve weeks following discharge from
hospital, were asked to take part in a clinical audit screening tool by telephone. The implementation
of this screening tool, developed by local clinicians and research fellows (C19-YRS), enabled the
service to anticipate the clinical needs of the population with Long Covid whilst informing the
workforce required. The service continues to be responsive, collaborative and agile as research and
evidence informs the future service offer.
There are impacts in scientific advancement yet be experienced regarding service demand. How will
the vaccination programmes fully impact on the service model required and the continued demand?
Where will the economic impact be felt and those upon wellbeing and healthy living where 57% of
people on the pathway in Leeds are yet to be well enough to return to work?
Local and national data continues to be evaluated to ensure a clear understanding of prevalence
and any inequity of access to the service and sources of support. Health Inequalities work will
continue to ensure the service is accessible for all, engaging communities and ensuring positive
impact and change.
Whilst there is uncertainty in predicting the population needs for a condition which continues to
evolve we can be assured the Leeds system will respond at pace ensuring the future is
representative of the past in using the latest evidence and research to model and respond.

9

Page 139

Appendix 1.
Long Covid: a briefing note for partners
Updated 20th May, 2021
The purpose of this briefing is to help:
1. Raise awareness of Long Covid
2. Ask for community intelligence
3. Determine if partners are seeing an increase in service usage
Increasing medical evidence and patient testimony is showing that a small but significant minority of people who
contract Covid cannot shake off the effects of the virus months after initially falling ill – also known as ‘Long Covid’.
What are the symptoms?
The most common symptoms people report are fatigue, ongoing shortness of breath, muscle pains, chest pains, palpitations, “brain fog” and anxiety. A wide range of other symptoms have also been reported. Typically symptoms
can fluctuate over weeks, so individuals can seem to be getting better, then get worse again. Most people get better
slowly, but may need lots of time and rest to get better.
Since many people were not tested for Covid-19 in the first wave (March-April 2020), it has been suggested that a
positive test is not a prerequisite for diagnosis where there is a clear history of viral infection consistent with Covid19.
The National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) have recently published the following case definitions to define
the effects of COVID-19 at different time points:
Acute COVID-19 infection
Signs and symptoms of COVID-19 for up to 4 weeks.
Ongoing symptomatic COVID-19
Signs and symptoms of COVID-19 from 4 weeks up to 12 weeks.
Post-COVID-19 syndrome
Signs and symptoms that develop during or following an infection consistent with COVID-19, continue for more than
12 weeks and are not explained by an alternative diagnosis. It usually presents with clusters of symptoms, often
overlapping, which can fluctuate and change over time and can affect any system in the body.
Post-COVID-19 syndrome may be considered before 12 weeks while the possibility of an alternative underlying disease is also being assessed.
There is still uncertainty regarding what is known about the long-term effects of COVID-19. As we learn more and the
evidence base is developed, this will inform guidelines on how best to support people with ongoing symptoms.
How common is it?
A recent study by the Office for National Statistics, estimates that the overall prevalence rate of self-reported long
COVID at 6th March 2021 was 1.7% of the UK population living in private households. Of those who have had a positive test for Covid, it has been estimated that 13.7% continued to experience symptoms for at least 12 weeks. Based
on the same study, it is estimated that Long Covid symptoms could be adversely affecting day-to-day-activities of
8,000 people in Leeds. However, it is still not exactly clear how common Long Covid is.

10

Page 140

Who is at greater risk for getting Long Covid?
Long Covid is more commonly reported among people aged 35 to 69 years, females, people from more deprived areas, those with pre-existing health conditions and among health and social care workers. Some of this difference
might be because some groups have had a higher chance of getting initial Covid infection, and many people reporting Long Covid had no pre-existing health problems. We do know that COVID-19 has a disproportionate effect on
certain parts of the population, including older people, care home residents, those living in deprived areas, and people from black and ethnic minority communities. Black and Asian communities have seen high death rates and there
are concerns about other minority groups and the socially disadvantaged. Long Covid is likely to amplify existing inequalities as disadvantaged groups are more likely to experience the wider health, financial and social impacts of Long
Covid.
It is important that the particular needs and issues in relation to Long Covid within these groups is understood and
that clinical and other sources of support are accessed.
What help and support is there?
People in Leeds who are struggling with ongoing symptoms should consult their GP. There is a Covid Rehabilitation
pathway in Leeds that people can be referred into, if needed.
Local information on recovering from Covid is available here: https://www.leedsccg.nhs.uk/health/coronavirus/recovering-from-coronavirus/
In addition, www.yourcovidrecovery.nhs.uk is a self-care resources that people can access to help support COVID-19
recovery and the management of ongoing symptoms.

References
1. Greenhalgh, T., Knight, M., A’Court, C., Buxton, M., and Husain, L. Management of post-acute covid-19 in primary care. BMJ 2020;370:m3026; Published 11
August 2020. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m3026
2. National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). Living with Covid19; Published 15 October 2020. Available from:
https://evidence.nihr.ac.uk/themedreview/living-with-covid19/
3. NHS. NHS to offer ‘long covid’ sufferers help at specialist centres; Published 7th October 2020. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/2020/10/nhs-tooffer-long-covid-help/
4. West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership. Long Covid
A rapid review of symptoms, population need, treatment and support in West Yorkshire and Harrogate v3.0., 2020
5. National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and Healthcare Improvement Scotland. COVID-19 guideline scope: management of the long-term effects of COVID-19; Published October 2020. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/gidng10179/documents/final-scope
6. Office for National Statistics. Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in the UK: 1 April 2021. Available from:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/prevalenceofongoingsymptomsfollowingcoronaviruscovid19infectionintheuk/1april2021#measuring-the-data

Carl Mackie, Head of Public Health – Long term Conditions (Leeds City Council)
Dr Stephen Halpin, Consultant in Rehabilitation Medicine (Leeds Teaching Hospital NHS Trust)

11

Page 141

Appendix 2
Cumulative COVID-19 cases and positivity rates in Leeds (from August 2020-May 2021)
4. All tests by ethnicity (rates per 100,000 population)

Ethnicity
Ethnicity Not
Known/Not
Recorded
White Background
Black Background
Mixed Background
Asian Background
Chinese &
Other Background

Testing rate
per 100,000

LCI

UCI

UCI

510,721

508,677

512,770

2,043.48

2,049.66

66,967

66,769

67,167

198.61

199.06

66,504

65,730

67,285

774.14

780.98

59,460

58,472

60,461

988.32

1,000.84

54,710

54,176

55,248

533.88

537.83

39,546

38,874

40,226

671.50

680.19

Testing rate per
100,000

Ethnicity

LCI

LCI

UCI

LCI

UCI

Indian

58,060

57,067

59,065

992

1,005

PAKISTANI

54,295

53,460

55,139

834

844

Bangladeshi

44,666

42,769

46,625

1,897

1,959

-

GP registered population

All tests by ethnicity (rates per
100,000 population)
80,000
60,000
40,000
20,000
-

-

-

12

Page 142

Missing ethnicity category for volume of tests conducted
has resulted in the unrealistic testing rate by exciding the
number of populations allocated to the "Ethnicity not
known" from GP registered population (excluded in the
chart)
The highest test rate number overall is among white background population, second is Black Background population
The highest test rate among Asian background population
is Indian ethnicity

table 5. All Cases by Ethnicity (rates per 100,000 population)

Covid-19 cases rate
per 100k

Ethnicity
Ethnicity Not Known/Not
Recorded

LCI

UCI

LCI

UCI

30,503

30,005

31,007

497.875

504.065

Asian Background

7,480

7,284

7,681

196.593

200.556

Black Background

5,460

5,239

5,687

220.205

227.082

White Background

5,277

5,221

5,333

55.648

56.094

Chinese & Other Background

4,451

4,228

4,683

223.391

232.131

Mixed Background

3,781

3,535

4,040

246.164

258.786

PAKISTANI

9,013

8,675

9,361

338.108

347.909

Indian

6,548

6,217

6,891

330.475

343.480

Bangladeshi

6,577

5,862

7,355

715.180

778.371

All Cases by Ethnicity (rates per 100,000 population)
9,000
8,000
7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
Asian
Background

Black
Background

White
Background

Chinese & Other
Background

Mixed
Background

Covid -19 cases rate per 100,000 for Asian Background population is statistically significantly higher than the rest of ethnicities

13

Page 143

table 6. Positivity rates (%) by ethnicity

Ethnicity

Positivity %

LCI

UCI

LCI

UCI

Asian Background

13.7%

0.13

0.14

0.0033

0.0034

Chinese & Other Background

11.3%

0.11

0.12

0.0053

0.0055

Black Background

8.2%

0.08

0.09

0.0031

0.0033

White Background

7.9%

0.08

0.08

0.0008

0.0008

Mixed Background
Ethnicity Not Known/Not
Recorded

6.4%

0.06

0.07

0.0040

0.0042

6.0%

0.06

0.06

0.0009

0.0010

PAKISTANI

16.6%

0.2

0.2

0.0057

0.0058

Indian

11.3%

0.1

0.1

0.0053

0.0055

Bangladeshi

14.7%

0.1

0.2

0.0146

0.0159

Positivity rates (%) by ethnicity
16%
14%
12%
10%
8%
6%
4%
2%
0%
Asian Background

-

Chinese & Other
Background

Black Background

White Background Mixed Background

Covid -19 Positivity rate for Asian Background population is statistically significantly higher than the rest of ethnicities

14

Page 144

table 7. All tests by depravation decile (rates per 100,000 population)

IMD Decile
1 - most deprived

Testing rate per
100,000

LCI

UCI

LCI

UCI

85,108

84,729

85,489

379.34

380.62

2

89,734

89,088

90,383

646.19

649.71

3

90,160

89,494

90,829

665.73

669.45

4

90,675

89,685

91,673

990.19

998.40

5

97,644

97,004

98,287

639.50

642.67

6

94,018

93,313

94,727

705.47

709.48

7

96,969

96,339

97,602

629.75

632.85

8

85,721

85,020

86,427

701.07

705.41

9
10 - least
deprived

79,166

78,500

79,836

666.05

670.30

76,139

75,418

76,866

721.39

726.57

Testing rate per 100,000
120,000
100,000

-

80,000
60,000
40,000
20,000
-

-

IMD

15

Page 145

The highest statistically significant testing
rate per
100,000 is visible in IMD decile 5 and 7
IMD decile 10
had the lowest
statistically significant testing
rate.

Table 8. All cases by IMD (per 100,000)
Covid -19 cases rate per
100,000

IMD Decile

LCI

UCI

LCI

UCI

1 - most deprived

7,667

7,544

7,792

123

125

2

7,721

7,521

7,924

199

203

3

8,228

8,017

8,443

211

215

4

7,772

7,469

8,083

302

311

5

8,353

8,165

8,545

189

192

6

7,769

7,561

7,981

208

212

7

7,472

7,296

7,652

177

180

8

6,857

6,644

7,075

213

218

9

6,852

6,633

7,076

219

224

10 - least deprived

6,783

6,538

7,035

245

252

Covid -19 cases rate per 100,000
9,000
8,000
7,000

-

6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000

-

2,000
1,000
-

16

Page 146

IMD decile 5 had the
highest statically significant case rate
compared to all
other deciles apart
from decile 3.
IMD decile 10, 9,
and 8 had the lowest
statistically significant case rate compared to the rest of
the deciles.

Table 9. Positivity rate by IMD (%)

IMD Decile
1 - most deprived

10 - least
deprived

Positivity rate
by IMD

LCI

UCI

LCI

UCI

7.7%

0.08

0.08

0.001

0.001

2

7.7%

0.08

0.08

0.002

0.002

3

8.2%

0.08

0.08

0.002

0.002

4

7.8%

0.07

0.08

0.003

0.003

5

8.4%

0.08

0.09

0.002

0.002

6

7.8%

0.08

0.08

0.002

0.002

7

7.5%

0.07

0.08

0.002

0.002

8

6.9%

0.07

0.07

0.002

0.002

9

6.9%

0.07

0.07

0.002

0.002

6.8%

0.07

0.07

0.002

0.002

Positivity rate by IMD
9%
8%
7%
6%
5%

-

4%
3%
2%
1%
0%

17

Page 147

IMD decile 10, 9
and 8 had the
lowest statistically significant
case rate compare to the rest
of the deciles

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Angela Brogden
Tel: 0113 3788661

Work Schedule
Date: 5th October 2021
Report of: Head of Democratic Services
Report to: Scrutiny Board (Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles)
Will the decision be open for call in?

☐ Yes ☒ No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

☐ Yes ☒ No

What is this report about?
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions



All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year. In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable
issues that might occur from time to time.



The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to what
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas,
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’.



The latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule is attached to this report for the Board’s
consideration.

Recommendations
Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the
2021/22 municipal year.

Page 149

Why is the proposal being put forward?
1.

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year and therefore the latest iteration of the Board’s work schedule for the
remainder of the municipal year is attached as Appendix 1 for Members’ consideration.

2.

The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 22nd September are also
attached as Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted.
Developing the work schedule

3.

When considering any developments and/or modifications to the work schedule, effort
should be undertaken to:






4.

Avoid unnecessary duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums
already having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue.
Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value
and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.
Avoid pure “information items” except where that information is being received as part
of a policy/scrutiny review.
Seek advice about available resources and relevant timings, taking into consideration
the workload across the Scrutiny Boards and the type of Scrutiny taking place.
Build in sufficient flexibility to enable the consideration of urgent matters that may arise
during the year.

In addition, in order to deliver the work schedule, the Board may need to take a flexible
approach and undertake activities outside the formal schedule of meetings – such as
working groups and site visits, where necessary and appropriate. This flexible approach
may also require additional formal meetings of the Scrutiny Board.
Developments since the previous Scrutiny Board meeting

5.

There are no significant developments to report since the last meeting.

What impact will this proposal have?
Wards affected: All
Have ward members been consulted?

6.

☐ Yes

☐No

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the
municipal year.

What consultation and engagement has taken place?
7.

The Vision for Scrutiny also states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the
Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member about available resources
prior to agreeing items of work.

Page 150

What are the resource implications?
8.

Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if
the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and
focus its resources on one key issue at a time.

9.

The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council
functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and
that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.

10.

Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should:
 Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member
about available resources;
 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue;
 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and
can be delivered within an agreed time frame.

What are the legal implications?
11.

This report has no specific legal implications.

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?
12.

There are no risk management implications relevant to this report.

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars?
☒ Inclusive Growth
13.

☒ Health and Wellbeing

☒ Climate Emergency

The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking
Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives.

Appendices
14.

Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Adults, Health and Active Lifestyles Scrutiny
Board for the 2021/22 municipal year.

15.

Appendix 2 – Draft minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 22nd September 2021.

Background papers
16.

None.

Page 151

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year
June 2021

July 2021

Meeting Agenda for 15/06/21 at 1.30 pm.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled
Meeting Agenda for 09/07/21 at 10.30 am.

** Consultative Meeting**
Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and
Sources of Work (DB)
Performance Update (PM)

Board Member appointments and the Health
Service Developments Working Group
arrangement (PDS)
Meeting Agenda for 27/07/21 at 1.30 pm.

** Consultative Meeting**

Page 153

The Health and Care Bill and the development
of the local Integrated Care System (DB)
Working Group Meetings

Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

August 2021

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

APPENDIX 1

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

September 2021

October 2021

November 2021

Meeting Agenda for 07/09/21 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 05/10/21 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 16/11/21 at 1.30 pm.

** Consultative Meeting**
Improving ‘same day response’ services in
Leeds (PSR)

The development and future vision of stroke
services in Leeds, including reference to the adult
inpatient rehabilitation service (PSR)

Page 154

Community neurological rehabilitation service
Restart & Prioritisation Plans for the Delivery redesign (PDS)
of the NHS Health Check Programme (PSR)
Understanding and addressing the symptoms of
Update on the development of the local
‘long Covid’ (PSR)
Integrated Care System (PSR)

Working Group Meetings

Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

Update on the development of the local
Integrated Care System (PSR)
Understanding the impact of Covid-19
and the ongoing recovery measures
across the local health and care system
(PSR)
Tackling health inequalities and the
Leeds response to the ‘Build Back
Fairer: Covid 19 Marmot Review (PSR)

APPENDIX 1

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

December 2021

January 2022

February 2022

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

Meeting Agenda for 11/01/022 at 1.30 pm.

Meeting Agenda for 08/02/22 at 1.30 pm.

Performance report (PM)
Financial Health Monitoring (PSR)
2022/23 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS)

Arrangements surrounding the
implementation of Liberty Protection
Safeguards (PDS)
Primary Care Workforce Development
(PSR)

Page 155

Access and participation in Active Leeds
services (PSR)

Working Group Meetings

2022/23 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS) –
date tbc
Site Visits / Other

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

APPENDIX 1

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULTS, HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES)

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year

March 2022

April 2022

May 2022

Meeting Agenda for 15/03/22 at 1.30 pm.

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

Update on the development of the local
Integrated Care System (PSR)

Page 156
Working Group Meetings

Scrutiny Work Items Key:
PSR
Policy/Service Review
PDS
Pre-decision Scrutiny

RT
PM

Recommendation Tracking
Performance Monitoring

DB
C

Development Briefings
Consultation Response

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled

EXECUTIVE BOARD
WEDNESDAY, 22ND SEPTEMBER, 2021
PRESENT:

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair
Councillors S Arif, A Carter, D Coupar,
S Golton, M Harland, J Pryor, M Rafique
and F Venner

APOLOGIES:

Councillor H Hayden

44

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated
as being exempt from publication.

45

Late Items
There were no formal late items of business considered by the Board,
however, regarding agenda items 9 (Outcome of Statutory Notice on a
Proposal to Permanently Increase Learning Places at St. Edward’s Catholic
Primary School from September 2022) and 10 (Outcome of Statutory Notice
on a Proposal to Permanently Increase Learning Places at Allerton High
School from September 2022), prior to the meeting Board Members had
received the full (redacted) versions of the representations received as part of
the Statutory Notice process, which was in addition to the summaries as
detailed within the submitted cover reports. (Minute Nos. 51 and 52 refer).

46

Declaration of Interests
There were no interests declared at the meeting.

47

Minutes
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 21st July
2021 be approved as a correct record.
COMMUNITIES

48

Leeds City Listening Project - Update 2021
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
providing an update on the Leeds City Listening project. In April 2019 the
Council was successful in its bid for funding for the Leeds City Listening
Project, and the programme of work from that looked to engage with
marginalised women in communities facing multiple barriers to achieving their
potential. The report highlighted the collaborative working undertaken with the
West Yorkshire Mayor’s office and provided details of the overall outcomes
from the project and the work which continued in this area.
Members welcomed the submitted report.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 157

In response to a Member’s enquiry regarding how the women involved in sex
work within the Managed Approach in Holbeck were being supported and
engaged as part of this initiative, further detail was provided regarding the
relevant organisations which were involved in the City Listening Project.
Also, responding to a specific enquiry about knife crime in the community, it
was undertaken that a response would be provided to the Member in question
around the approach being taken towards addressing such issues.
Members also received further information on how actions arising from the
specific conversations had as part of the project would be progressed and
monitored.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the City Listening Project update report, as submitted, be
approved;
(b) That actions continue to be taken to ensure that the voice of women is
heard in key Council work, for example initiatives such as;
 Ending Violence Against Women and Girls Working Group;
 City Centre violence Against Women and Girls Thematic
Working Group;
 Period poverty;
 Forgotten Women Project;
 Women Friendly City.
(c) That the work which is currently ongoing in collaboration between the
West Yorkshire Mayor’s office and Leeds City Council in regard to
Violence Against Women and Girls, be supported;
(d) That the partnership working taking place between Leeds City Council
and Women’s Lives Leeds, be continued; and
(e) That it be noted that the Director of Communities, Housing and
Environment is responsible for the implementation of decisions
made by Executive Board in respect of this report.
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION
49

Future trends and opportunities in our city and local centres
The Director of City Development submitted a report providing an update on
the work which had been undertaken to date regarding the future of the city
and local centres moving forward, and how the city and local centres respond
to people’s changing routines and the implications arising from the pandemic,
with the report outlining proposed next steps in order to support and progress
this agenda.
In considering the report, Members highlighted the importance of
acknowledging the individuality of each local centre and welcomed the fact
that bidding processes for external funding streams would be undertaken for
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 158

appropriate schemes across the city. It was also noted that the actions being
taken to progress this agenda including the Board’s consideration of this
report would help to ensure that the Council had a firm basis on which to
maximise its opportunities to successfully bid for such funding.
With regard to the provision of ‘Changing Places’ toilet facilities, the Board
received an update regarding the current position in Leeds, and it was
undertaken that a further written update would be provided to the Member in
question regarding any funding being sought for further provision across the
city. Members also discussed the role of the Council in ensuring that
developers delivered such facilities in new developments in instances where
prior agreement to do so had been reached.
Responding to a Member’s comments regarding the proposed approach
detailed in the report, it was emphasised that given the financial challenge
that continued to be faced the Council was heavily reliant upon external
funding streams to deliver the proposals outlined. Members also noted that
the overall aim of this agenda was to improve the local and city centre
economies whilst also developing sustainable and inclusive growth. Further to
this, a Member highlighted the importance of robust consultation taking place
with affected communities when considering proposals for local centres,
suggesting the involvement of the Council’s Communities Team in such
matters.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the work which has been undertaken as detailed in the submitted
report looking at the future of Leeds’ city and local centres, be noted;
(b) That the recommendations for next steps, as outlined in the submitted
report and as listed below, be approved; and that agreement be given
that they are the right areas of focus to take forward at this stage with
the resources the Council has available; that the potential for additional
resources through successful Government funding bids be noted; and
that such matters be delegated to the Director of City Development:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

We will continue to identify and deliver transformational projects
across the city, linked to external funding streams.
We will explore how we can facilitate flexible workspaces and
co-working spaces in areas outside of the city centre.
We will work to capitalise on the role of Culture for the future of
our centres, including the opportunities presented through
Leeds2023.
We will continue to support our local centres as we recognise
their importance in providing services, employment and social
opportunities to local people.
We will continue to support businesses across the whole city
and we will continue to support people who are seeking
employment.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 159

(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

We will continue to encourage collaboration and
experimentation to connect activity across centres of innovation,
now and in the future.
We will explore how we can create a long-term, sustainable way
of collecting local data and intelligence for each of our centres.
We will continue to drive this work and these recommendations
for next steps forward, both externally across the city and
internally within the Council.

(c) That it be noted that this work will inform the development of and be
reflected within the new City Plan for Leeds which is currently
underway, and that it be noted that Executive Board will be kept
informed of work to develop the City Plan as this progresses.
50

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman report on the decision
relating to Summer Born school admission
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which informed
Executive Board of the findings from a recent Local Government and Social
Care Ombudsman report and which provided details on the actions taken by
the Council in response to that report.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further clarification on
the actions which had been taken by the Council in response to the report,
including the fact that all other similar requests regarding summer born
admissions had been reviewed, and it was confirmed that there were no
further outstanding cases.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman report and
the recommendations for improvement, as appended to the submitted
report, be noted;
(b) That it be noted that the responsible officer for this matter is the Head
of Learning Systems.

51

Outcome of statutory notice on a proposal to permanently increase
learning places at St Edward's Catholic Primary School from September
2022
Further to Minute No. 11, 23 June 2021, the Director of Children and Families
submitted a report detailing a proposal brought forward to meet the Local
Authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places. Specifically, the
submitted report presented a proposal to expand St. Edward’s Catholic
Primary School to permanently increase the number of places offered at the
school in Reception from 20 to 30 places from September 2022. The
submitted report summarised the representations received during the
statutory notice period and which sought a final decision on the proposal.
Prior to the meeting, Board Members had received for their consideration the
full (redacted) versions of the representations received as part of the Statutory
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 160

Notice process, which was in addition to the summaries as detailed within the
submitted cover report.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted that the matter
had been considered by the Children and Families Scrutiny Board, with it
being noted that the statement and recommendations of the Scrutiny Board
arising from such consideration were appended to the report. The Executive
Member confirmed that he was happy to accept all of the Scrutiny Board
recommendations, and specifically regarding the recommendation that all
consultation responses be shared in full with Executive Board Members, it
was suggested that these be handled as ‘Background Documents’ which
would be published alongside the agenda papers, but not form part of the
formal agenda, so that Board Members had access to such information.
In considering the report, a Member highlighted the importance of ensuring
that any agreed actions arising from consultation with Ward Members,
specifically in response to transport, highways or access issues were not
delayed, but implemented during the relevant construction period, with it being
undertaken that any specific concern that a Member had would be
investigated.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposal to expand St. Edward’s Catholic Primary School to
permanently increase the number of places offered at the school in
Reception from 20 to 30 places with effect from September 2022, be
approved;
(b) That the recommendation to exempt the decisions arising from this
report from the Call In process, for the reasons as set out in paragraph
23 of the submitted report, be approved;
(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems;
(d) That the conclusions and recommendations of the Scrutiny Board
(Children and Families) arising from its consideration of the proposal to
increase learning places at St. Edward’s Catholic Primary School, as
appended to the submitted report, be noted and accepted.
(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
paragraph 23 of the submitted report)

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 161

52

Outcome of statutory notice on a proposal to permanently increase
learning places at Allerton High School from September 2022
Further to Minute No. 10, 23 June 2021, the Director of Children and Families
submitted a report detailing a proposal brought forward to meet the Local
Authority’s duty to ensure a sufficiency of school places. Specifically, the
submitted report detailed a proposal to permanently expand secondary
provision at Allerton High School from a capacity of 1100 to 1400 pupils by
increasing the admission number in Year 7 from 220 to 280, with effect from
September 2022. The submitted report summarised the representations
received during the statutory notice period and which sought a final decision
on the proposal.
Prior to the meeting, Board Members had received for their consideration the
full (redacted) versions of the representations received as part of the Statutory
Notice process, which was in addition to the summaries as detailed within the
submitted cover report.
In considering the report, assurance was provided that relevant Ward
Members would continue to be kept informed on the progress of agreed
actions being taken in response to any concerns raised around transport and
highways issues.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposal to permanently expand secondary provision at
Allerton High School from a capacity of 1100 to 1400 pupils by
increasing the admission number in Year 7 from 220 to 280, with effect
from September 2022, be approved;
(b) That the recommendation to exempt the decisions arising from this
report from the Call In process, for the reasons set out in paragraph 24
of the submitted report, be approved;
(c) That it be noted that the responsible officer for implementation of such
matters is the Head of Learning Systems.
(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the
decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would
seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests. In line with this, the
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In
process, as per resolution (b) above, and for the reasons as detailed within
paragraph 24 of the submitted report)
LEADER'S PORTFOLIO

53

Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery
Plan
Further to Minute No. 36, 21 July 2021, the Chief Executive submitted a report
providing the latest details of the wide ranging activity being undertaken
across the multi-agency partnership as part of the response to, and recovery
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 162

from the Covid-19 pandemic. Key information in the report included details of
the work undertaken to increase vaccination uptake, recover backlogs on
services, control the number of cases across the city, as well as encouraging
continued testing, tracing and isolating within the context of most restrictions
being removed and living with the virus.
The Board received an update on the progress being made on the continued
vaccination roll out across the city. Also, responding to an enquiry, information
was provided on the actions being taken to monitor the relevant data and
promote vaccinations in communities where hesitancy remained.
Regarding Members’ comments on a number of issues, the Board received
further information on the actions being taken to progress the response and
recovery from the pandemic as set out in the appended plan, with particular
discussion around the scale of the challenge faced, the ongoing resumption of
services, the establishment of new ways of working and the aim of ensuring
that services were delivered in the most effective way. The Board also
received further information on the challenges and pressures being faced
during the recovery process, not only in Local Government, but across all
sectors.
Responding to a specific enquiry regarding officer attendance at site visits,
reassurance was provided that where appropriate, such visits would be made,
with it being undertaken that any specific concerns that the Member in
question had on this issue could be addressed separately. More generally, it
was noted that such matters would be considered by the Council’s Silver
Group to ensure that a consistent approach was being taken across
directorates.
Specifically with regard to the Council’s Planning Service, Members
highlighted their willingness for further consideration to be given to the making
of representations to Government about providing Local Authorities with
greater powers around the setting of planning fees.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the updated Response & Recovery Plan, as detailed at Annex A
to the submitted report, which is the summary plan for the period ahead
and which also details ongoing response, risks, recovery and service
recovery efforts, be noted;
(b) That the updated Local Outbreak Management Plan for Leeds, as
detailed at Annex B to the submitted report, which the report highlights
is in-line with the Government’s current Contain Framework, be noted;
(c) That a summary of national developments since the last meeting of
Executive Board (Annex C) and the latest Covid-19 Dashboard
detailing information across the seven key themes (Annex D), be
noted;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 163

(d) That it be noted that there are national announcements anticipated
which will influence local plans, with it also being noted that the next full
update to Executive Board will be in December 2021, with regular
Member updates continuing to be provided.
RESOURCES
54

West Yorkshire Pension Fund - Divestment from Fossil Fuels
Further to Minute No. 52 of the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee
(CEAC) meeting held on 18th January 2021, the Director of Resources
submitted a report which presented for the Board’s consideration the Climate
Emergency Advisory Committee’s recommendation to the West Yorkshire
Pension Fund (WYPF) regarding the divestment from fossil fuels.
In introducing the report, the Executive Member highlighted that although the
Council had no direct decision making powers over WYPF, it was appropriate
to raise the issue of investment in fossil fuels with the Pension Fund in
response to the Climate Emergency, and the prospect of such investments
losing value.
The Board discussed this matter in detail and acknowledged that the WYPF
Board members had a duty to act in the best financial interests of its
members. Also, Executive Board considered the role of the Council in this
process and that of WYPF Board members. Members also highlighted how
the consideration of the report raised people’s awareness of the issue of
climate change. At the same time it was acknowledged that the
recommendation of CEAC to divest from fossil fuels within three years was
not supported due to the financial risks involved. The Council would look to
receive information from WYPF regarding progress on divesting from fossil
fuels at the appropriate time and in a way that minimised the risk of any
losses being incurred.
RESOLVED – That the West Yorkshire Pension Fund be requested to:(i)
be explicit about acknowledging the Climate Emergency and the
need to divest from fossil fuels;
(ii)
actively look to divest into alternative, cleaner investments with
comparable returns; and
(iii)
report annually against the progress on divestment, specifically
against the region’s declared net zero target.

55

Gambling Act 2005 - Public Consultation on Policy
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
which presented to the Board details of the triennial review of the Gambling
Act 2005 Statement of Licensing Policy, and which sought the Board’s
approval to refer the matter to the relevant Scrutiny Board in accordance with
the Budgetary and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.
RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report, including the
outcomes from the related statutory consultation exercise undertaken, be
noted; and that the matter be referred to Scrutiny Board (Environment,
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 164

Housing and Communities) for consideration in line with the Council’s
Budgetary and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.
(The matters referred to within this minute, given that they were decisions
being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules, were not eligible for Call In, as Executive and Decision Making
Procedure Rule 5.1.2 states that the power to Call In decisions does not
extend to those decisions being made in accordance with the Budget and
Policy Framework Procedure Rules)
56

Taxi and private hire licensing - Proposed new criterion in Suitability
(Convictions) Policy
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report
which sought the Board’s approval to undertake a consultation exercise upon
proposed new criterion for minor motoring convictions for determining the
suitability of applicants and licensees as drivers in taxi and private hire
licensing.
In introducing the report and in outlining the proposed process moving
forward, the Executive Member highlighted the following corrections proposed
to be made to the submitted report:
 That the outcomes of the consultation would be considered by
Licensing Committee followed by Executive Board, and not the other
way around as detailed within the report; and
 That the consultation period be scheduled for 6 weeks duration, rather
than the 4 weeks, as detailed within the report.
In considering the report, Members discussed several matters including the
importance of continuing to ensure that appropriate safeguarding measures
remained in place, the timing of the proposed consultation process, the impact
suffered by the taxi trade during the pandemic, the actions being taken to
simplify the consultation process for stakeholders and make it as accessible
as possible, the actions being taken to provide wider support for drivers as
part of the recovery from the pandemic, and addressing the issue of wider
harmonisation across neighbouring Authorities.
With regard to the wider harmonisation of the taxi and private hire trade
across neighbouring Authorities, it was noted that work continued in this area,
with the aim that further detail would be presented to the Board at the
appropriate time.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, subject to the inclusion of the
corrections detailed above, be noted;
(b) That a consultation exercise on the new criterion in the Suitability
Policy, as presented within the submitted report/appendices, but
subject to the inclusion of the corrections detailed above, be approved;

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 165

(c) That a further report be submitted to the Board outlining the findings of
the consultation and making final proposals on the policy to be
adopted.
57

Revenue Savings Proposals for 2022/23 to 2024/25
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which outlined
details of proposed savings over the next three years to meet the financial
challenge which continued to be faced by the Council. The proposals were
categorised as either ‘Business as Usual’ or ‘Service Reviews’.
Members acknowledged that a number of assumptions have had to be made
in respect of the current position, whilst further detail on announcements such
as the Government’s Spending Review were awaited.
The Board noted the work which was underway, with specific reference being
made to the review being undertaken into procurement services. In
considering such matters, Members noted the intention to submit further
reports and proposals to the November and December Executive Board
meetings.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the financial position for 2022/23 to 2024/25, as outlined in the
submitted report, be noted, and that it also be noted that further
savings are required to deliver a balanced budget position for 2022/23
and to close the projected gaps in the years 2023/24 and 2024/25;
(b) That the ‘Business as Usual’ savings, as outlined, be noted, with it also
being noted that decisions to give effect to them shall be taken by the
relevant Director or Chief Officer in accordance with the Officer
Delegation Scheme (Executive functions);
(c) That it be agreed that consultation commences where required with
regard to the ‘Service Review’ proposals, as detailed in the submitted
report, with it being noted that decisions to give effect to them shall be
taken by the relevant Director or Chief Officer, following any
consultation period, in accordance with the Officer Delegation Scheme
(Executive functions).

58

The Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2026/27
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which provided an
update on the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2022/23 to
2026/27, with the report highlighting how the strategy aimed to deliver a
robust and sustainable approach towards establishing and maintaining a
stable and prudent financial basis upon which the Council’s services were
delivered.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member
in question with the latest information on the Council’s level of Reserves.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 166

RESOLVED – That the updated Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2022/23
to 2026/27, as detailed within the submitted report, be noted.
59

Financial Health Monitoring 2021/22 – Month 4 (July)
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report which provided an
update on the financial health of the Authority in respect of both the General
Fund revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account, as at month 4 (July)
of the financial year.
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further information
regarding the current budget position of the refuse collection service, and the
reasons for that position.
Also in response to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received an update on the
work which continued around ensuring the Council was ‘energy secure’
moving forward, with specific reference being made to the continued roll out of
the District Heating scheme in the city. Members highlighted that this was an
area of work which was particularly significant at present, given the
considerable price increases being experienced in gas and electricity.
With regard to the collection of food waste and the associated anaerobic
digestion process, Members received an update regarding national
developments in this area which would continue to be monitored.
RESOLVED –
(a) That the projected financial position of the Authority, as at Month 4 of
the financial year, be noted, with the projected impact of COVID-19 on
that position also being noted;
(b) That for 2021/22, it be noted that the Authority is forecasting an
overspend of £0.4m;
(c) That it be noted that the position as detailed within the submitted report
does not reflect the potential effects of any further local or national
lockdown arrangements on the financial projections, or any potential
additional costs arising from the current 2021/22 pay negotiations.

DATE OF PUBLICATION:

FRIDAY, 24TH SEPTEMBER 2021

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:

5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 1ST OCTOBER 2021

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Wednesday, 20th October, 2021

Page 167

This page is intentionally left blank

